
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 18th June, 2015

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 18th June, 2015, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership (15)

Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 
Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle

UKIP (2): Mr B Neaves and Mrs Z Wiltshire

Labour (1): Ms C J Cribbon

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye

Co-opted Members 
(6):

Mrs T Carpenter, Mr C Dowle, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths, Ms C 
Moody and Ms B Taylor 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Membership 

to note that Jane Cribbon has joined the Panel in place of Roger Truelove, and 
that the two extra seats allocated to Virtual School Kent apprentices at the April 
meeting will  be taken by  Chris Dowle and Sophia Dunstan (Sophia is currently 
on maternity leave) 



A2 Election of Vice-Chairman 

A3 Apologies and substitutes 

A4 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 April 2015 (Pages 5 - 16)

A5 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 May, 
and brief verbal update (Pages 17 - 22)

A6 Chairman's Announcements 

A7 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A8 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 23 - 24)

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 What Foster Care is Like! - PRESENTATION (Pages 25 - 32)

B2 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 33 - 48)

B3 Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018 (Pages 49 - 
94)

B4 The County Council's Corporate Parenting responsibilities towards 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children and care leavers, and issues around 
their accommodation in the community (Pages 95 - 102)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Wednesday, 10 June 2015

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Swale 1, Sessions 
House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 9 April 2015.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Griffiths, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Ms B Taylor, 
Mr M J Vye, Mrs J Whittle and Mrs Z Wiltshire

ALSO PRESENT: Mr C Dowle, Ms A Kury and Mr M Roberts

IN ATTENDANCE: Ms S Hammond (Assistant Director of Specialist Children's 
Services, West Kent), Mrs S Skinner (Service Business Manager, Virtual School 
Kent) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

EXEMPT ITEMS

(Open access to minutes)

MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT ITEM 

The Panel RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

68. The Views of Young People in Care - discussion 
(Item 1)

The Chairman introduced the purpose of the discussion session, ie to seek to identify 
how corporate parents can make a difference for children and young people in care. 
The Clerk explained that the session had been closed to the press and public so that 
personal information could be discussed. 
 
The session was attended by a number of young people representing Our Children 
and Young People’s Council (OCYPC), being currently or previously in care, 
accompanied by Virtual School Kent (VSK) Apprentices Amelia, Bella, Chris and 
Matt, Sarah Skinner (Service Business Manager, VSK) and Sarah Hammond 
(Assistant Director of Specialist Children’s Services, West Kent).  

Those around the table introduced themselves. The Clerk informed those present 
that their comments about their experiences of being in care would be recorded but 
assured them their names would not be.

The Chairman opened the discussion by setting out a number of issues that the 
Panel had heard about, for instance young people’s relationships with their social 
workers, the rate of change of social worker, and issues around leaving care.  

Page 5

Agenda Item A4



In this record of the discussion, questions and comments from the Panel are shown 
in italics and comments from young people are shown as bullet points. Information 
given by officers and VSK Apprentices is attributed to them by name.

When a social worker changes, you have to get to know a new one and tell them 
about all sorts of personal issues. Do you feel that they respect the personal things 
that you tell them?  

How can we address the issue of frequent change and the need to establish a new 
relationship?  

 When there has to be a change, perhaps we could be given a social worker 
that we have dealt with before. They will know us and be familiar with the 
problems that we have. 

 It seems that, to a social worker, I am just a number.  My social worker was 
awful; they forgot important information. I do my own budgeting at my 
supported lodgings but the social worker forgot to give me the money I was 
supposed to have.  The lady I lodge with leant me some money to buy my 
groceries. When I had to deal with the police, when my bike was stolen, my 
social worker was late coming to the police station to support me. 

What is the arrangement in the event of an emergency?  Is there a hotline you can 
ring for advice?

Once you are allocated a social worker, could that person keep in touch for the whole 
time you are in care, so that you stay connected; for example, they would attend your 
annual reviews?

 Which social worker would be this long-term contact?  Would this be the first 
one we were allocated, or would we be allowed to choose which one we 
wanted to stay connected to, ie one that we felt most comfortable with?

 Yes, I think that sort of arrangement would help.  But my new social worker 
was very good, really ‘on the ball’, and I trust her to listen to me and to do what 
she says she will do. 

How long have you had your current social worker?

 I can’t remember. I am nearly 18 now so I will shortly be getting a new social 
worker anyway.

Sarah Hammond – I am pleased to hear that young people seek continuity of social 
work contact. This was the reason for the restructure of the children’s social work 
service in late 2014, to avoid the need for young people to have to change social 
worker when they reach 16. Social workers will always want to move on through their 
career, but the idea is that someone from the same social work team with stay with 
you through to adulthood, to give continuity of care.  When you leave care at 18 you 
will have a personal adviser instead of a social worker.  This change is a separate 
issue to that of social workers not doing what they are supposed to do to support you. 

How do you complain when something is wrong?  Who do you tell?

Page 6



 No-one, as far as I know.  No-one offered; ‘if you want to complain, contact 
me’. So when I am asked to fill in anything which asks ‘do you know who to 
contact…?’ I put ‘no!’ 

You could contact your local County Council Member.  You could find them on the 
website. 

 
The issue of social workers suddenly changing was raised at the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group (KCPG).  There is no guarantee that you’ll have the same social 
worker all the time that you are in care but some sort of handover should be 
organised. Does this happen?

 Once, two social workers turned up together; one said ‘Hello’ and the other 
said ‘Goodbye’.  They did not sit down with me and talk. 

 I have had a mixed experience; one sat down and spoke to me properly and 
one other just turned up at the door and started asking me personal questions!

If you don’t like your social worker, do you have any choice? 

 No, there is no choice.

Sometimes, a system that the County Council thinks will work, young people know 
will not work.  What sort of system of handover do young people want to see?  Do 
you know why social workers change so much?

Sarah Hammond – some social workers leave out of choice, and there are still some 
agency social workers in teams, but even then there should be a month’s notice if 
one of them is leaving. 

 I know that one social worker left from stress. 

Bella – what if social workers could have a ‘buddy’ system?  If the usual social worker 
is not available, they could send the buddy instead?

This would be like seeing another doctor at the same surgery; you would know them 
a bit. 

At foster carer performance reviews we advocate for children in care to ensure that 
their voice is heard.  Foster carers speak to social workers and Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IROs), and I know that IROs will sort a problem, so tell your IRO 
about any problems!

 What if your complaint is about your foster carer? My IRO keeps changing, so 
I don’t know them well enough to feel able to talk to them!

IROs can make a big difference as they are possibly the person who knows you the 
best. Some keep in touch years after you leave care.  My 24-year-old had lots of 
social workers during his time in care and had to keep re-telling his story every time 
his social worker changed, but I put a stop to that. 

Page 7



A good foster carer can make a big difference to a young person’s experience of 
being in care. 

 If there’s an issue with your foster carer you could tell your IRO but you have 
to live with your foster carer afterwards. 

All teenagers have troubled times and difficult relationships with adults; those years 
are always a difficult time.  

I like the idea of having a social work buddy. A young person could have a main 
social worker and someone else to step in if the main social worker is not available. A 
young person could be supported by one person or a team of people. 

Amelia - we tell young people about the independent advocacy service.  This is 
accessible via the website. 

 In my children’s home the phone was in the office so it was difficult to make a 
private call. You would be asked who you were calling and if you said ‘the 
advocacy service’ they would be very off with you.  The system seems to turn 
on young people. 

This need for privacy could be helped if the advocacy service could be on speed-dial, 
or if some sort of code were used, eg ‘press 1 for x, press 2 for y’, etc

 They would still be able to see what you were pressing!

 When you come into care, information about the advocacy service, and 
contact numbers and names for IROs, etc, could all be together in a pack that 
you are given. 

Are the VSK Apprentices involved in producing things for children in care that is in a 
language they understand?

Sarah Skinner – this is being done. Leaflets are available on the website and there is 
a group working with the County Council’s Communications team. Child & young 
person friendly leaflets are being designed and young people have been involved in 
the design.

 Please could this information include a copy of the rights of children in care?

Sarah Skinner – there is a new contract for the independent advocacy service, and 
the new manager will be attending the OCYPC on 13 April.  The next VSK newsletter 
will have a big feature on how to complain. 

 When people first come into care, they react differently to being given lots of 
information. Some people are preoccupied with issues and are taking one day 
at a time.  They cannot take in or retain lots of information at that time. 

 Since I was 10, I have spoken to my IRO privately before any meeting that I 
needed to attend.  They are someone that I have always trusted.

Page 8



 I found that if I told my IRO about any issue that was bothering me she would 
sort it out for me. When she retired she came to see me personally to say 
goodbye. 

It seems that, if things are right, your experience of being in care will be good, but if 
they are wrong, you will have a bad experience. 

I use the advocacy service to address issues for the children I foster.  Foster carers 
can tell young people that there is now a new organisation running the service and it 
will hopefully be better now.  

Sarah Hammond – the advocacy service should also be proactive about telling 
people they are there. 

Young people could have a card listing contact details so they all know who to call.

I sympathise with the trauma which is caused when communications break down. If 
you are new in care you don’t want to have to cope with any more information than is 
necessary. Your first priority must be to settle in and become comfortable, then tackle 
information, eg about how to complain.  Issues could be treated either as complaints 
or problems; these two things are not necessarily the same.

How did you feel the police dealt with you? Did you tell them you were in care?

 When I had to deal with the police, when my bike was stolen, I didn’t tell them I 
was in care as I thought it might affect how they treated me. 

The police need to know something like that so they can protect your rights, so you 
should tell them about being in care. They have a duty to ensure that you are not 
unfairly treated because of it. 

 I was treated OK.  I told my foster care and they approached the police on my 
behalf.

 
Bella – the police are more understanding than before, so don’t be afraid to tell them 
about being in care.

 I don’t seek to tell my personal business to strangers; it’s private. 

You could view the police as being friends; there to help you. 

 I still have reservations about telling them all my personal information. 

 Children in care are treated differently.  They seek to better themselves by 
going to college and university, but find it hard to get qualifications as their 
GCSE studies are often interrupted by moves to new placements. 

How can this missed opportunity be addressed?  Would it help to be able to take 
more time to pass the courses you need?

 Yes.  Colleges and universities do give you more leeway if you have been in 
care.

Page 9



The young man I fostered wanted to go to Cambridge but didn’t have enough points 
to get onto the course he wanted.  I rang the university on his behalf and they agreed 
to accept him with fewer points.  Children in care are always playing catch-up, but 
universities are keen to take children in care, so you must keep asking them.  All 
universities have LAC officers whose role it is to support you through your course. 

Sarah Skinner – VSK has extended its support up to 18 year olds, including going to 
university. VSK has good relationships with Kent universities. 

 I took an extra year in college to get the right qualifications so I was one year 
behind my peers all through my university course. Careers advisors need to 
be told about the issues that children in care face. 

VSK can help with information and support. 

Children in care should plug into the benefits available, so you should go and ask. 

Sarah Hammond – no-one can access a degree course with fewer than 5 GCSE 
passes, and the same rule is applied to children in care as to everyone else. 
Presently there is no room for negotiation. VSK do support young people as much as 
possible to help them to get the points needed to get on to the course they want to 
do. 

Bella – if you are going to university, you need consistent and coherent support from 
social workers and foster carers, and that doesn’t seem to be there. 

Sarah Skinner – there is an ePEP in place for all children in care, and established 
liaison between young people, the school, social workers,  etc. It is possible to do 
one more year to gain the grades you need, and VSK could support you through this. 
We would not risk someone going to university and not managing; we would not set 
someone up to fail.  We know that you would need good support. 

 Falling short on my GCSEs and being one year behind my peers built up 
barriers to me building friendships with them.

We have heard the same from other young people. The Select Committee on 
Corporate Parenting will be taking forward in its report the issues that it heard about, 
and these will be reported to the full County Council. The recommendations that the 
Select Committee makes will then be actioned.

 Will I be treated differently at university as a former child in care?

You should not be. 

Bella – you don’t have to tell them that you were in care. 

 I avoid saying to people that I am in care as I fear being treated differently.

One young man whom I started fostering when he was 13 thought he was too late to 
change his academic record and do well, but he is now 28 and the deputy manager 

Page 10



of a group of care homes. He did a BTEC qualification, worked hard and made up the 
ground. So it is always possible to overcome a difficult start and turn your life around. 

The Chairman closed the session by saying she hoped those present had found the 
discussion useful.  She added that it would be useful to have similar sessions 
regularly, perhaps twice a year. 

The OCYPC representatives said they had found the session useful.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

69. Membership - increasing the number of Virtual School Kent (VSK) 
apprentices/Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
representatives co-opted on to the Panel 
(Item A1)

1. The Chairman proposed that three seats on the Panel be offered to co-opted 
representatives of young people in care, in place of the current single seat.

2. RESOLVED that the number of seats on the Panel offered to co-opted 
representatives of young people in care be increased from one to three.

70. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 13 February 2015 
(Item A3)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 13 February 2015 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters 
arising. 

71. Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) held on 
16 March 2015, and verbal update 
(Item A4)

1. Mr M J Vye gave a brief verbal update on four issues arising from the minutes, 
as follows:-

 Challenge cards – liaison was ongoing with Surrey County Council about the 
use of challenge cards, and the outcome of this would be reported back to the 
Panel.

 Leading Improvements for Looked After Children (LILAC) – a working 
group had been set up to aim at getting a ‘good’ rating next time. Social media 
would be used to reach young people. 

 Social worker change – a new target had been set for the percentage of 
children who had been in care for more than 18 months to have the same 
social worker for at least 12 months, and this was 50%.  The current score 
against this target was 39%. The Corporate Parenting Panel should scrutinise 
this issue.

 Links between the KCPG and the Corporate Parenting Panel – it had been 
agreed that the KCPG would now receive the minutes of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel meeting, and vice versa. 

Page 11



2. Mr Vye and Ms Hammond responded to comments and questions from 
Members, as follows:-

a) the social work service had experienced difficulties in recent years, but 
Kent could strive to make its service as good as it could be, and, by 
benchmarking against other authorities, better than those of its peers.  
Although the number of social work vacancies was an area of concern, 
realistically there would always be some level of turnover and vacancy. 
The changes made to the 16+ service should help to minimise changes 
and meet the 50% target.

3. RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting 
Group held on 16 March 2015, and the verbal updates and discussion points 
arising from them, be noted, with thanks. 

72. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A5)

1. The Chairman said that she hoped the discussion between the Panel and 
young people in care, which had taken place in the first part of the Panel’s meeting, 
had been useful and would help those who had attended. If today’s attenders spread 
the word that the session had been useful, hopefully others would be willing to attend 
future sessions. 

2. The Chairman suggested that, as the Panel’s meetings had necessarily to be 
business-like, it might be easier for young people to engage via a ‘Shadow Panel’, 
made up just of young people in care. The Shadow Panel would be sent the main 
Panel’s agenda and papers, perhaps in an ‘easy-read’ version, and would be able to 
feed comments into the main Panel meeting. The Shadow Panel could also suggest 
items of business for the main Panel to consider.  Mrs Skinner agreed that such an 
arrangement was worth trying, and undertook to talk about it with the VSK 
apprentices and the OCYPC.  This suggestion met with interest, and a comment 
made that it was easier to learn more about young people’s views in their own 
environment. 

3. The Chairman said that she was still not sure that all elected Members fully 
grasped their role as corporate parents to all children in the care of the County 
Council, including unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC), up to the age of 
18.

4. The Chairman reminded the Panel that the report of the Select Committee on 
Corporate Parenting would be considered at the meeting of the full Council on 16 
July and suggested that a seminar on the corporate parenting role be arranged for all 
elected Members on that day. 

5. Finally, she referred to the new practice of holding two OCYPC meetings in 
different venues in East and West Kent, which would hopefully increase the number 
of young people who could attend.  She added that all Panel members were invited 
to attend any OCYPC meeting. 

Page 12



73. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A6)

1. Ms Taylor gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

OCYPC – some new members had been attracted via a taster day in Margate; there 
were now two venues for meetings, in East and West Kent, and a South Kent branch 
would soon be added. 

Activities – ideas were being sought for events which would attract a wider age 
range, as well as targeting young people who had not previously taken part. As the 
last residential course had been so successful it was planned to arrange another as 
soon as possible.

Current involvement – the ‘in care in school’ project sought to raise awareness 
among school children of the issues faced by their classmates in care; work was 
ongoing with the Princes Trust, the disability team and the 16+ Children in Care 
Council. 

Future Plans – new ways of working together were being explored, to share the 
increased workload. Eight apprentices were able to cover the whole county better 
than before. OCYPC representatives sat on interview panels for foster carers and 
many had undertaken paediatric training. 

2. Mrs Skinner added that awareness across County Council directorates of the 
issues facing children and young people in care had increased, partly due to a 
presentation made by Philip Segurola on the role of corporate parents to a challenger 
group of senior officers. From this session, some 27 officers had signed up to learn 
more about this role.

3. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

74. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A7)

1. In the absence of the Cabinet Member, Mr Oakford, Mrs J Whittle gave a 
verbal update on the following issues:-

New arrangements for Disabled Children’s Services - Disabled Children’s 
Services, Adults Learning Disability and Adult Mental Health Services had come 
together in a new division from 1 April 2015. Penny Southern would be the Director 
responsible for the division, called ‘Disabled Children, Adults with a Learning 
Disability and Mental Health’. This closer alignment would further improve the support 
for disabled young people becoming adults.
Select Committee on Corporate Parenting – the Select Committee had finished its 
evidence gathering and was expected to make some hard-hitting recommendations 
in its final report, which would be presented to the County Council in July 2015. This 
was expected to attract local media attention, and would be an opportunity to remind 
all elected Members of their shared corporate parenting responsibility. 
Future government support – whatever the make-up of the next Government, it 
was vital that the interests of children and young people be maintained at the top of 

Page 13



the political agenda as an issue with cross-party support. The Chairman added that 
the new Minister could be invited to meet representatives of the County Council.

2. RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks.

75. Participation and Engagement of Children and Young People in Care 
(Item B1)

1. Mrs Skinner introduced the report and highlighted the key points of it, including 
the recent appointment of an Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting, 
Geoff Gurney, and two participation workers in VSK, for a period of 12 months.  She 
responded to comments and questions from Panel members, including the following:-

a) the involvement of social workers at meetings of the OCYPC had been 
considered, and there was scope to invite a social work representative to a 
meeting if there were issues which the OCYPC wished to share with them, 
but it was important that there were not more social workers present than 
young people;

b) concern was expressed that younger children in care may find it harder to 
relate their views and talk about their experiences, particularly to adults, 
although they did have a range of ways in which to put forward their views, 
eg in ePEP review sessions, and via their IRO or social worker, and some 
events arranged by VSK were open to children and young people of a wide 
age range; 

c) regarding target setting for the level of engagement with young people, it 
was important to be realistic about what was achievable, and the target to 
be set would need some careful thought.  Mrs Skinner added that the IRO 
service was to hold a focus day in May 2015 to look at participation and 
engagement; and 

d) good foster carers would always encourage a young person to participate 
and engage, so ensuring that foster carers had information about the 
options available was a good way of spreading the message to young 
people.  The Chairman added that she had requested that attendance at 
participation days and involvement in activities be part of a foster carer’s 
annual review. 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and a further report be made 
to the Panel in six months’ time. 

76. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report 
(Item B2)

RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks. 

77. Children in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-16 
(Item B3)

Page 14



1. Panel members commented that, although the membership of the Panel listed 
on page 49 of the Strategy document was complete and correct at the time of 
preparation, it could usefully have indicated that membership included foster carers 
and VSK representatives.  

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks. 

78. Post-Adoption Support update 
(Item B4)

Ms Y Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service, and Ms A Coombs, Family Finding 
Team Manager, were in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Shah introduced the report and told the Panel that, in the 2014/15 financial 
year, 143 children had been placed for adoption (out of 149, six cases having been 
delayed by challenges from birth parents), 181 children had been adopted and 138 
new adopters approved. A three month moratorium had been placed on further 
adopter recruitment, and this may be extended further, as only five children were 
currently awaiting adoption.  Kent’s adoption service was now growing very 
successfully as an excellent multi-disciplinary team. Ms Shah responded to 
comments and questions from Panel members, as follows:-

a) the move to reduce adopter recruitment was supported, as this would avoid 
parents reaching the end of the approval process and being disappointed 
when there were no children available to be adopted; 

b) Kent had a good track record of former foster carers moving to become 
adopters; and 

c) part of the post-adoption support service was geared to supporting 
adopters and children to access the CAMH services, and it was recognised 
that more work on this was needed.  

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

79. Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(Item B5)

Ms C Infanti, Commissioning Officer, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Infanti introduced the report and explained that the Strategy was being 
reported to the Panel in response to a request for an opportunity to see and comment 
on it before sign-off.  It was later to be considered by the Children’s Social Care and 
Health Cabinet Committee. She set out the process for its preparation and the 
consultation which had been undertaken, and responded to comments and 
questions, as follows:-

a) the focus of GPs on the lowest tier of the service was welcomed, as many 
emotional problems in the teenage years were due to normal adolescent 
development and needed no more specialised attention, although GPs 

Page 15



were able to refer cases, if necessary, to emotional health and wellbeing 
providers;

b)  asked about changing patterns of mental health problems in children and 
young people in recent decades, and to what extent these could be linked 
to mothers’ use of drugs and/or alcohol during pregnancy, Ms Infanti 
undertook to look into any links and advise the Panel; and 

c) Ms Hammond pointed out that very few young people experienced mental 
ill health requiring treatment; much was distress rather than ill health.  It 
was important to raise awareness of levels of emotional distress which 
could be experienced and make carers and professionals more aware of 
the issues. 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

Page 16



Kent Corporate Parenting Group
Minutes of the meeting held on 29 May 2015

Swale 3, Sessions House

Present: Apologies 
Philip Segurola – Interim Director, Specialist 
Children’s Services

Lee-Anne Farach – Head of Quality Assurance 

Malcolm Thomas – Deputy Head, Virtual School 
Kent

Anne Nerva – Children and Young Person’ 
Service Manager – Thanet

Andy Heather – Principal Educational 
Psychologist

Sarah Skinner – Business Manager, VSK

Sue Clifton – County Manager 18+ Service Nick Wilkinson – Assistant Head of Integrated 
Youth Services

Rebecca Ransley – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, South Kent

Martin Vye – Elected Member for Canterbury

Joanne Rabbitte – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, West Kent

Sarah Whittaker – Children and Young Person’s 
Service Manager, North Kent

Ann Furminger – Service Delivery Director, CXK

June Capuano – Clinical Manager for Children in 
Care Services, Kent Community Health
Nancy Sayer – Designated Nurse for Looked 
After Children
Sue Mullin – Commissioning Support Manager, 
NHS Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr Noreen Ahmed-Bhatti – Designated Doctor, 
East Kent Hospitals Trust
Maureen Robinson – Manager, Management 
Information Unit
Geoff Gurney – Assistant Director, Lead for 
Corporate Parenting 
Colin Thompson – Public Health Consultant 
Margaret Pike (Minutes)

Item 
No

General Overview of discussion, followed by decisions and actions in bold Actions

1. Welcome and Introductions

 Philip Segurola welcomed everyone to the meeting, introductions were 
made and apologies noted 

2. Minutes and Matters Arising 

 Page 2 - Care Leavers Charter – Ann Furminger has spoken to Sean 
Kearns regarding this action without success.  Action to be closed 

1Page 17

Agenda Item A5



 Page 2 - Profiling breakdown – DfE has a new coding system which means 
it will be possible to see data on placement breakdown and planned moves. 
First quarter is when the additional data will be added to the scorecard

 Page 2 - Care to Listen DVD – Sarah Skinner has arranged this 

 Page 2 – South East benchmark Group – Maureen has raised with the 
group looking at performance data.  No other Local Authority has a 
performance measure in place for the number of changes of Social Worker.  
Scorecard will use our own measures.  

 Page 2 – CSE Thematic Inspection – a workshop has taken place which 
was attended by the Police.  If there is a lack of Police involvement in case 
where CSE is confirmed this should be escalated to AD level and Patricia 
Denney will look into this.   The Border Agency is interested in working with 
us on visits to houses Action – invite police representative to the next 
meeting. 

 Page 3 - Challenge cards – on the agenda 

 Page 3 – Lilac Assessment – Geoff Gurney to update later in the meeting 

 Page 4 – Corporate Parenting Panel – standing item on the agenda 

 Page 4 – Terms of Reference – on the agenda

 Page 4 - Data reports – Maureen Robinson hasn’t  received information 
from Nick Wilkinson but  it will go into the quarter 1 report 

 Page 4 – CAMHS measure – Maureen Robinson has had a meeting with 
Carol Infanti to try and match the data with CAMHS data but they haven’t 
got a data set to match.  Action – Nancy Sayer to take up with Sue 
Cruickshank.   Currently CAMHS services received by children are not 
recorded on Liberi yet but this is being looked into

 Page 4 – Initial Health Reviews – wording will be changed on the measure 

 Page 5 – Complaints measure – will be added on the new scorecard 

 Page 5 – Care Leavers measures – need to look through the performance 
report and decide which measure are appropriate for the scorecard 

 Page 5 – Children in Care Strategy – one amendment has been made to 
priority 3

 Minutes agreed 

PS

NS/GG

3. Challenge Cards

 Surrey is currently using a challenge card process.  Sarah Skinner will be 
meeting with them next month 

 It was raised at the OCYPC meeting where the Young People were positive 
about the idea and it was piloted at that meeting 

 Issues are discussed at the OCYPC or YAC meeting, the completed 
challenge  cards are passed to the Chair and the meeting then decides if 
these are to be forwarded to KCPG

2Page 18



 Challenge cards are given to Jo Carpenter  who will update the log and 
inform Sarah Skinner to bring to KCPG 

 KCPG will then discuss the challenge and decide who should be 
responsible for owning the action.  If a challenge cannot be completed a 
reason why an action cannot be done needs to be fed back to the OCYPC 
or YAC Council

 Responsible owner of the action will report to Jo Carpenter to pass to 
OCYPC or YAC Council who will then decide to sign off card or put on hold  

 At the OCYPC meeting 6-7 challenges were received and 3 put forward for 
challenge as some were more personal issues and should be dealt with by 
Social Worker

 Attendance is growing at OCYPC meetings and participation events 

 KCPG endorsed the use of challenge cards 

 Challenge card 1 - Ensure every young person has a savings account and 
match funded by KCC which can be accessed at 18. Not all Young People 
are aware of junior ISAs/junior trust funds.  Foster Carers should be setting 
up savings accounts.  If it is an IFA placement the guidance is clear on the 
carer’s responsibility but not so clear for KCC Foster Carers.  Action – 
Geoff Gurney to look at savings for Young People and the 
recommendation from the Share Foundation to get businesses 
involved with Juniors ISA’s 

 Challenge card 2 - Changes of Social Worker – Young person raised an 
issue with not knowing or able to contact their new Social Worker and asked 
if they could have one person made one responsible for designing a 
business card for Social Workers to give to all children on their caseload.  
When they get a new Social Worker they get a new card.  Action – Joanne 
Rabbitte to take this idea forward and the young person who raised the 
idea would like to be involved in the design process   

 Challenge card 3 - CIC with siblings should be allowed to see their siblings 
at contact place without parents present.  This could be difficult to do as it 
will be dependent on the parents.  Some young people don’t understand the 
reasons and feel like they are being fobbed off as to why they can’t see their 
siblings.  Principle of the idea was accepted and should be given 
consideration.  Action – Lee-Anne Farach to take this forward as it 
should be routed through the IRO’s 

GG

JR

LAF

4. Terms of Reference

 Membership has been updated

 Care leavers should be mentioned in 1st paragraph

 Discussion over whether the proper term is CIC or LAC – DfE and 
Department of Health use LAC but children prefer CIC as children comes 
first not looked after.  A lot of other authorities have moved away from LAC.  
Action – Geoff Gurney to take away as an issue.

  CCG’s are in a transition period.  They are not using commissioning 

GG

3Page 19



support unit and are looking at their own models to embed commissioning in 
CCG’s.  There should be more clarity next month as to who will be 
representing the CCG’s.  By the next meeting there will be one CCG that will 
represent all CCG’s.  Action – Sue Mullin to provide update report at 
next meeting

 There is no foster carer representation, Chair of foster carer association to 
be asked if they can provide a representative

 Terms of Reference agreed 

SM

PS

5. Update from Corporate Parenting Panel

 4 Key items at the April meeting 

 Group of Children in Care met panel members and it was well received by 
the young people and members felt that it was a good exercise which they 
would like to repeat.  Members also looking at opportunities to meet young 
people at participation events.  

 Children in care strategy has been agreed and published  on KNET

 Post adoption work – the service provided by Coram is slightly different in 
other authorities.  Coram have brought in therapists and are keen to develop 
support needs to LAC with later life attachment issues which falls outside 
community CAMHS.  This is the 4th year that Coram provides this service 
which runs to January 2016.  Formal tender exercise to take over Coram 
Services, specification has been drawn up and is to be agreed next week. 
Implementation expected in the autumn.  Statutory returns on adoption 182 
children adopted last year the highest in the country.  Numbers have 
decreased this year

 There was a presentation on emotional health and wellbeing for information

 In relation to the tendering for the Coram services, there was concern that 
the designated doctors were not involved these discussions.  

 There needs to be a conversation as to what is being tendered for and 
points of clarification.  Action–  meeting to be set up with Geoff Gurney 
to lead with NHS colleagues

GG

6. CIC Scorecard 

  MIU are building the scorecard for the new year and there will be a page for 
every measure and commentary built in.  There is a draft of the monthly 
report that can be seen.  Action – Maureen Robinson to circulate this

 There has been an improvement in the number of cases that were reviewed 
in timescale 

 Participation is just above target.  Data is being reviewed for the year end 
return.  There are a lot of cases are being recorded at not participating when 
the child has attended the meeting.  MIU are  trying to identify these as they 
come through

 Currently a lot of validation work taking place for end of year reporting 

MR

4Page 20



 Review Health Assessments held in timescale has improved.  The number 
of dental checks in timescale has decreased.  Action – Maureen Robinson 
to check the definition of when children should be registered with a 
dentist 

 Placement stability is slightly above the target set at 9.6%.  Stat neighbours 
are 11.4% and significantly under England rate of 11%.   

 Immunisations not recorded on scorecard but are on the national return.  
These to be included on the scorecard 

 % of children in foster care going forward will include relatives and friends 

 % of children in foster care placed within 10 miles of home is below target, 
however those placed within 20 miles of home is 82%, the national target is 
77% 

 Adoption timeliness targets are set by Ofsted over a 3 year period.  10 
children adopted in April and all within timescale

 % of case holding posts filled by KCC qualified social workers target is 86%, 
currently at 80.3% 

 Concern raised over the percentage of children achieving 5+ A*-C grades at 
GCSE being only 8% when the numbers of children achieving Level 4 at 
Key Stage 2 is around 60%.   Only 311 children have a SEN statement.  
Action – Philip Segurola to take this back to Tony Doran to break down 
and look at National comparators.  Item to be tabled as agenda item for 
the next meeting

MR

TD

7. Participation Strategy 

 Strategy sets out what we do and what we want to do in future.  

 Last 6-12 months have seen increased participation but there is still more 
work to do including the LILAC action plan 

 There needs to be more work on children who are not looked after.  The 
working group is to look at CHIN and CP plans 

 Kent is creating a standalone Participation and Engagement post who will 
be in position by the autumn

 There is Health engagement in the working group.  After Review Health 
Assessments participants are asked to complete an evaluation of the 
process which includes foster carers and feedback to the nurses.

 Looking at the communications strategy and better ways of informing young 
people.  Discussions are in progress with communications team and looking 
into developing an app

 Work is ongoing and any suggestions for improvement should be sent to 
Geoff Gurney

5Page 21



8. Health Needs Assessment 

 The health needs assessments was completed as a prioritisation exercise 
as to what the health department should focus on

 Data was received from a wide range of sources including health, education 
and SCS. A number of interviews and focus groups took place

 There is a significant difference between Kent CIC and Kent children, the 
biggest difference is in GCSE rates 

 There is a marked decrease in school absences 

 Kent has a higher percentage of children with up to date immunisations 

 Recommendations– involving children in decisions regarding their care, 
improving pathway plans, organise systematic screening for infectious 
diseases and investing the high SDQs for Kent CIC 

 Concerns were raised about the lack of blanket screening for TB for USAC.  
Nancy Sayer is working on the SDQ scores 

9. AOB
 Health – Ofsted are concentrating on health for USAC.  Statutory guidance 

that Care Leavers should have a health history written by the LAC nursing 
team before they reach 18.  This is being worked on at the minute but there 
is no commissioned service for 18+.  CCG’s are having a meeting on 24th 
June to look at taking forward a joint Kent LAC commissioning group.  
Action – Margaret Pike to add this to the agenda for the next meeting 

 There was some confusion over date of this meeting.  Action - Margaret 
Pike to add dates of forward meetings to the minutes 

MP

MP

10. Date of Next Meetings 

 24th September at 9.30am, Billiard Room, Oakwood House
 23rd November at 9.30am, Billiard Room, Oakwood House 

6Page 22



By: Mr P J Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 June 2015

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

Visits to Children’s Centres in Tunbridge Wells, Swale and Thanet

Visit to Specialist Children’s Services office in Gravesend

Attended the Early Help Service Design Workshop

Attended a briefing session about Children’s Centres

Kent Integrated Children's Services Board (KICSB) special meeting focused on child 
sexual exploitation

Corporate Parenting Select Committee

Page 23

Agenda Item A8



This page is intentionally left blank



.

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 B
1



� Some children think care is a prison and that they think their parents don't 
want them but that's not why there in care.

� The thing is they don't really know how hard the carers work and that there 
doing this so we have a better life and childhood.

� I know it's hard for some children in care it's hard for me but we finally just 
realise we can't go home until we're 18-21,so we all find out we're just going 
to stay here until we're old enough to go home.

P
age 26



� At first I hated being in care but now I know that there is reasons that kids 
can't go home and I understood that after I moved a few times.

� I know it's scary at first and YES,it is if you are only little like I was and I know 
how upsetting it is too.

� People may laugh and say haha you don't live with your mum and she doesn't 
love you, well they’re wrong. 

� Kids are put in care,because there parents love them but don't think they will 
be able to give us what they need so they put us in care so we get educated 
and have a good life, and not because they hate you.

� I know how it feels and I'm sorry but just know you’re there,because your 
parents love you and want you to have a better life!

P
age 27



� This is my carer Karen and I've 
only been with her for 5-6 weeks 
and I know now how much she 
works,because she has 3 of her 
own kids and another 3 foster 
kids so you can tell how much 
she works!

� She is one of the best carers  
that I have had and I've only 
known her a few weeks but I 
know how much carers 
work,because I've been in care 
for a long time and I've still got 6 
years left until I can go home.

P
age 28



� Remember that you are lucky that there are nice people in the world that are 
like your carers that take you into their homes and feed you and keep you 
warm.

� So the next time you look at your carer think to yourself that they love you 
and that 

P
age 29



� My name is xxxxxxx and I've been in care for 
years and I know how you feel so I'm going to tell 
you what I've been told by my new carer Karen 
that every  foster child is special in they own 
way and that we're lucky to have caring carers to 
let us be part of there family and  in to their 
home.

� Also the foster family are lucky to have us, 
because we're special individuals with our own 
wonderful way of being.

� I also get told that I'm a wonderful person and 
that I have a lot of love to give and I'm starting 
to believe it and I expect you are too!�

P
age 30



� Just remember 
appreciate what carers 
do for us and what we 
give to them back.

� Of my experience of 
moving from carer to 
carer sometimes it can 
take a few moves to find 
the right family,because 
there is a loving family 
for every child in need.

� Just maybe sometimes it 
takes a long time to find 
them!

P
age 31



This is presented by….

A Child in Care in Kent.

P
age 32



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 June 2015

Subject: Performance Scorecard for Children in Care

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division:   All

Summary: The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard for 
March 2015 is attached to this report.   Also attached is the sample 
Scorecard for 2015/16 which shows the new format for the Scorecard.

1. Introduction 
(1) Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 

Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

(2) The development and oversight of the performance Scorecard for Children in 
Care is undertaken through Kent’s Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG), 
whose most recent meeting was on 29th May 2015.  

(3) Separate Performance Scorecards are also in place for Fostering and 
Adoption and key performance measures from these are included within the 
Children in Care Scorecard.

(4) The latest Children in Care Scorecard for March 2015 is attached as 
Appendix 1 of this report.

2. Context
(1) KCPG are responsible for overseeing progress in the performance areas 

included within the scorecard.

(2) The existing Scorecard has been re-developed to provide KCPG and the 
Corporate Parenting Panel with a greater range of information to assist in 

Page 33

Agenda Item B2



understanding some of the factors impacting upon performance.  A sample of 
this revised format is attached to this report as Appendix 2.  

The new style report will be split into sections of measures and will include an 
overview of performance written by the nominated lead officer. Each 
performance measure will have a dedicated page of additional information to 
assist with further understanding of current performance.  This information will 
vary with the measure but will typically provide trend information, breakdowns 
of data by groups e.g. age, gender, district etc.  Where comparative figures 
are available the latest Statistical Neighbour and England performance rates 
will be shown.

(3) The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided 
by Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared at KCPG so that performance issues can be 
further understood across organisations resulting in improved outcomes for 
children and young people.

Recommendations

 The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to

a) NOTE and make COMMENT regarding the performance data on the children 
in care scorecard and

b) Provide feedback – both in relation to the areas of performance included and 
targets for 2015/16

Background documents: none

Appendices:

Appendix 1: Performance Scorecard – Children in Care March 2015

Appendix 2: Sample Performance Scorecard – Children in Care 2015/16 

Contact details:

Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
Tel: 03000 417164 Email: Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 01 June 2015

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care Scorecard

4th Quarter 2014-15

Produced by SC SCS Management Information

Page 35



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Report - 2015-16 - New Page 2 of 3

Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Became Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independet Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug)

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 
reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and or analyses as a one off 
please log a request through our sharepoint page

Many of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 
the end of the current quarter. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 
caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Key To Abbreviations

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating 
has been applied

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 
or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last quarter.

Page 36

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Report - 2015-16 - New Page 3 of 3

Children: Lead - Geoff Gurney
CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H YTD 97.1% A 1,758 1,810 98% 96.4% N/A
Participation at CIC Reviews H YTD 95.5% G 4,487 4,698 95% 95.8% 94.5%

CIC per 10,000 population aged under 18 SS 57.4 1870   326,000 58.3 56.5
CIC with a Child Protection Plan SS 13 43 28
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1303 1296 1195
% of CIC becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 7.9% 78 992 7.7% 11.0%
% of CIC open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.5% 46 1,870 2.8% 2.8%

Education: Lead - Tony Doran
% of KCC CIC looked after continuously for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term exclusion L A 14.1% R 9.8% 15.2%
% of CIC persistently absent from school L A 6.5% R 4.7% 4.2%

% of CIC achieving level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 H A 57.0% 52%
% of CIC achieving level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 H A 59.0% 46%
% of CIC achieving level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 H A 65.0% 61%
% of CIC achieving 5+ A*-C at GCSE inc. Eng and Maths H A 8.0% 15%
No. of KCC CIC permanently excluded L AC YTD 4 4
No. of KCC CIC who have had a fixed term exclusion L AC YTD 308 288
% of CIC persistently absent from school L AC YTD 8.7% 96 1,100 12% 16%
No. of CIC on a part-time timetable L M 57 24 41
No. of CIC with an SEN Statement L SS 311 264 299
No. of CIC not in Education or Training L SS 60 58

Health & Wellbeing: Lead - Sarah Skinner
% of Review Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 89.7% A 1,087 1,212 92% 90.1% 85.6%
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 89.0% A 1,079 1,212 92% 89.3% 96.6%

% identified as having a substance misuse problem L SS 12.0% 224 1,870 12.7% 23.2%

Placements: Lead - Geoff Gurney
CIC Placement Stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months L YTD 9.6% A 180 1,870 9% 9.6% 8.9%
CIC Placement Stability: Same placement for last 2 years H YTD 72.7% G 397 546 70% 72.7% 66.6%
% of CIC in KCC Foster Care (Exc. UASC) H SS 65.5% G 984 1,502 60% 64.2% 63.2%
% of CIC in Foster Care placed within 10 miles from home (exc. UASC) H SS 59.7% A 742 1,242 65% 59.6% 62.1%

% of CIC placed in Non-related OLA's L SS 11.2% 210 1,870 11.0% 10.4%
% of CIC  in residential placements L SS 5.6% 105 1,870 5.4% 4.9%

Adoption: Lead - Geoff Gurney
Ave days between 'child becoming Looked After' and 'being Placed for Adoption' (Adopted Children) L YTD 532.0 R 97357 183 426 537.8 680.0
Ave days from 'placement order being granted' to 'agency decision to match' (Adopted Children) L YTD 207.6 R 37161 179 121 208.1 223
% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted H YTD 19.8% G 183 922 13% 20.6% 13.0%

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan by the 2nd review (Children with an Agency Decision) H YTD 60.0% 48 80 63.6%
% of cases with a plan of twin / triple tracking, that remain so at or after the 3rd LAC Review L SS 26.3% 10 38 32.6%
% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 63.8% 51 80 66.7%
Ave days from: 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Placement Order being granted' L YTD 70.5 5571 79 79.6
% where: 6 mths from 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Panel recommendation to match' H YTD 42.3% 60 142 41.9%
% of CIC 'Placed for Adoption' within 12 months of the 'Agency Decision to adopt'. H YTD 78.7% 144 183 80.1%
% who wait less than 14 mths between becoming Looked After and being Placed for Adoption. H YTD 46.6% 145 311 45.5%
% of sibling groups that were placed together H YTD 96.4% 27 28 96.2%
% of CIC awaiting adoption L SS 2.8% 53 1887 3.1% 6.0%
% Adopted aged 5 or over H YTD 4.5% 29 641 4.9% 4.0%
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds H YTD 4.4% 12 271 5.0% 3.0%
% Adopted who have a disability H YTD 11.1% 5 45 12.5%
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H YTD 5.9% 54 922 5.9% 6.0%
% for whom the permanence plan has changed away from Adoption L YTD 9.6% 33 334 9.3% 15.0%

Care Leavers: - Sue Clifton
Care Leavers in suitable accommodation H A 42.5% 73%
Care leavers in employment, education or training H A 23.0% 49%
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H A 56.0% 89%

Staffing: Philip Segurola
% of caseholding posts filled by agency staff L SS 17.5% A 82 466 14% 18.3% 18.8%
% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW H SS 80.3% A 374 466 86% 76.3% 73.8%
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.3 A 1,819 119 15 15.0 16.9
Ave Caseloads of social workers in non CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 20.2 A 4,934 244 20 20.8 22.6

Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 75.5 1,870 25 79.1 83.7

DFE Reported figure 2013/14

Scorecard

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result 
and RAG 

Status
Num Denom

Target 
for 

14-15

Q3 2014/15 
Result

Outturn 
Result

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Publication Date: 01 June 2015

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Kent Corporate Parenting Group

Children in Care
Performance Report
Quarterly Report

Quarter 4 2014/15

Produced by SC SCS Management Information

SA
MPLE

Page 39



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 2 of 9

Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Became Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independet Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug)

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and or analyses as a one off 
please log a request through our sharepoint page

A SGO

AC YTD

YTD Data

Many of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 
the end of the current quarter. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 
caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD QSW

R12 IRO

SS PO

UASC Denom

BLA SEN

OLA IHA

CIC Num

A

G

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating 
has been applied

Direction of Travel

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 
reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last quarter.

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 
or increase in numbers/percentage.

Key To Abbreviations

R

Polarity

H

L

T

RAG Ratings

SA
MPLE

Page 40

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 3 of 9

CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales H YTD 97.1% A 1,758 1,810 98% 96.4% N/A
Participation at CIC Reviews H YTD 95.5% G 4,487 4,698 95% 95.8% 94.5%
CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same SW for 12 months L SS

CIC per 10,000 population aged under 18 SS 57.4 1870   326,000 58.3 56.5
CIC with a Child Protection Plan SS 13 43 28
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1303 1296 1195
% of CIC becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 7.9% 78 992 7.7% 11.0%
% of CIC open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.5% 46 1,870 2.8% 2.8%
No. of CIC who are first time entrants into  the Youth Justice System L SS

% of KCC CIC looked after continuously for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term exclusion L A 14.1% R 9.8% 15.2%
% of CIC persistently absent from school L A 6.5% R 4.7% 4.2%

% of CIC achieving level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 H A 57.0% 52%
% of CIC achieving level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 H A 59.0% 46%
% of CIC achieving level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 H A 65.0% 61%
% of CIC achieving 5+ A*-C at GCSE inc. Eng and Maths H A 8.0% 15%
No. of KCC CIC permanently excluded L AC YTD 4 4
No. of CIC on a part-time timetable L M 57 24 41
% of KCC CIC looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement L SS
% of PEP's outside of 6 month timescale L SS
No. of CIC not in Education or Training L SS 60 58

% of Review Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 89.7% A 1,087 1,212 92% 90.1% 85.6%
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 89.0% A 1,079 1,212 92% 89.3% 96.6%
% of IHA referrals made within 5 days H YTD 29.1% 209 719 28.8% 35.6%

% of IHA's completed within 20 working days H YTD 29.5% 212 719 25.9% 44.6%
% identified as having a substance misuse problem L SS 12.0% 224 1,870 12.7% 23.2%
SDQ Average

CIC Placement Stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months L YTD 9.6% A 180 1,870 9% 9.6% 8.9%
CIC Placement Stability: Same placement for last 2 years H YTD 72.7% G 397 546 70% 72.7% 66.6%
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (Exc. UASC) H SS 84.9% A 1,054 1,242 85% 84.9% 84.3%
% of CIC in Foster Care placed within 20 miles from home (exc. UASC) H SS 53.8% R 742 1,380 65% 53.7% 60.1%
% of CIC  in residential placements L SS 5.6% 105 1,870 5.4% 4.9%

% of CIC placed in Non-related OLA's L SS 11.2% 210 1,870 11.0% 10.4%
No. of missing incidents lasting longer than 48 hrs L R12
No. of return interviews completed within 72 hrs L R12

% of cases adoption agreed as plan by 2nd review, for those with an agency decision H YTD 60.0% 48 80 86% 63.6%
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L YTD 532.0 R 97357 183 426 537.8 680.0
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L YTD 207.6 R 37161 179 121 208.1 223
% of Children leaving care who were adopted H YTD 19.8% G 183 922 13% 20.6% 13.0%

% of cases with a plan of twin / triple tracking, that remain so at or after the 3rd LAC Review L SS 26.3% 10 38 32.6%
% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 63.8% 51 80 66.7%
Ave days from: 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Placement Order being granted' L YTD 70.5 5571 79 79.6
% where: 6 mths from 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Panel recommendation to match' H YTD 42.3% 60 142 41.9%
% of CIC 'Placed for Adoption' within 12 months of the 'Agency Decision to adopt'. H YTD 78.7% 144 183 80.1%
% who wait less than 14 mths between becoming Looked After and being Placed for Adoption. H YTD 46.6% 145 311 45.5%
% of sibling groups that were placed together H YTD 96.4% 27 28 96.2%
% of CIC awaiting adoption L SS 2.8% 53 1887 3.1% 6.0%
% Adopted aged 5 or over H YTD 4.5% 29 641 4.9% 4.0%
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds H YTD 4.4% 12 271 5.0% 3.0%
% Adopted who have a disability H YTD 11.1% 5 45 12.5%
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H YTD 5.9% 54 922 5.9% 6.0%
% for whom the permanence plan has changed away from Adoption L YTD 9.6% 33 334 9.3% 15.0%

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation H A 42.5% 73%
Care leavers in employment, education or training H A 23.0% 49%
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H A 56.0% 89%

% of caseholding posts filled by agency staff L SS 17.5% A 82 466 14% 18.3% 18.8%
% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW H SS 80.3% A 374 466 86% 76.3% 73.8%
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.3 A 1,819 119 15 15.0 16.9
Ave Caseloads of social workers in non CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 20.2 A 4,934 244 20 20.8 22.6
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 75.5 1,870 25 79.1 83.7

New Indicator for 15/16
New Indicator for 15/16

Adoption: Lead - Geoff Gurney

Care Leavers: - Sue Clifton

Staffing: Philip Segurola

Placements: Lead - Geoff Gurney

Children: Lead - Geoff Gurney

New Indicator for 15/16

New Indicator for 15/16

Education: Lead - Tony Doran

DFE Reported figure 2013/14

New Indicator for 15/16

Health & Wellbeing: Lead - Sarah Skinner

New Indicator for 15/16

New Indicator for 15/16

Scorecard

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result 
and RAG 

Status
Num Denom

Target 
for 

14-15

Q3 2014/15 
Result

Outturn 
Result

SA
MPLE

Page 41



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information Page 4 of 9 Publication Date: 01/06/2015

H YTD 97.1% A 1,758 1,810 98% 95.1% N/A
H YTD 95.5% G 4,487 4,698 95% 95.9% 94.5%
L SS

SS 57.4 1870      326,000 57.4 56.5
SS 13 50 28

L SS 1303 1296 1195
L YTD 7.9% 78 992 7.4%
L SS 2.5% 46 1,870 2.7% 2.8%
L SS

% of CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales
5 Year trend graph, Number of CIC reviews outside of timescale by gender and age

Participation at CIC Reviews
5 Year trend graph, Participation at LAC Reviews by age and participation Since April, Age's of the children who did not participate in their LAC review since April

CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same SW for 12 months
5 Year trend graph, Number and percentage of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more split by age and team

CIC per 10,000 population aged under 18 (inc. UASC)
 5 Year trend graph, Difference between LAC Starters and leavers over the past 2 years, Age range of Kent's Looked After Children as at March 2015

CIC currently subject to a Child Protection Plan
5 Year trend graph Age range of Kent's looked after children who subject to a child protection plan as at March 2015

Number of Other Local Authority Looked After Children Placed in Kent

% of CIC becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode

% of CIC open to Youth Offending Services
5 Year trend graph, Number of CIC open to YOS by Age, Programme Type and Gender, Number of CIC open to YOS by district placed in

No. of CIC who are first time entrants into  the Youth Justice System
tbc

New for 2015/16

Contents

5 Year trend graph, Local authority breakdown of how many are being placed in Kent, Age range of the other local authority looked after children placed in Kent as 
at March 2015

5 Year trend graph, Number of periods of care for the children who have become looked after within 24 months of the previous episode, Age's of CIC becoming 
looked after within 24 months of previous episode

KCPG Children in Care Performance Report  -  Quarter 4 2014/15

CIC per 10,000 population aged under 18
CIC with a Child Protection Plan
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent
% of CIC becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode
% of CIC open to Youth Offending Services
No. of CIC who are first time entrants into  the Youth Justice System

Q3 2014/15 
Result

Outturn 
Result

CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales
Participation at CIC Reviews
CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same SW for 12 months New for 2015/16

Children
Lead: Geoff Gurney

Scorecard

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Da
ta

 P
er

io
d

Latest 
Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom
Target 

for 
14-15

SA
MPLE

Page 42



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 5 of 9

Definition

Apr 14 May 14 Jun 14 Jul 14 Aug 14 Sep 14 Oct 14 Nov 14 Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15

+1.9% +1.1% +1.0% +1.1% +1.9% +2.0% +1.9% +0.9% +1.9% +2.2% +1.4% +1.0%

CIC reviews outside of timescale by gender and age

Commentary

% CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales

Theme Children

Current RAG Amber - 97.1%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 10 - Mar 15) Last 12 months

% Difference between excluding UASC 
and including UASC

Lead Geoff Gurney The percentage of Children in Care cases which should have been reviewed during the year ending 
31 March that were reviewed in accordance with the appropriate timescales.  PID Reference K25

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

Male 
40 

77% 

Female 
12 

23% 

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

4 
6 5 

25 

4 
2 

2 

4 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16 Yrs+

Male Female

SA
MPLE

Page 43



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 6 of 9

Definition

This data is sourced from the DFE LAIT tool.  2014 data will be available from December 2015

Definition

This data is sourced from the DFE LAIT tool.  2014 data will be available from April 2016

Last 8 Years

Commentary

Lead Tony Doran Persistent absentees are defined as pupils who have missed 15% or more of school sessions through 
authorised or unauthorised absence.PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 6.5%

Latest RAG Red - 14.1%

Last 8 Years

Commentary

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees

Theme Education

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for twelve months 
with at least one fixed term exclusion from school

Theme Education
Lead Tony Doran This indicator shows the number of children who have been looked after for at least a year who have 

had at least one fixed term exclusion.  A fixed term exclusion refers to a pupil who is excluded from a 
school but remains on the register of that school because they are expected to return when the 
exclusion period ends.

PID Reference

15.5% 

17.3% 17.2% 
18.1% 

16.3% 
15.2% 

14.1% 

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent Stat Neighbour Ave National Ave

10.6% 
9.7% 9.4% 

7.7% 7.7% 

4.2% 

6.5% 

3%

5%

7%

9%

11%

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave - Latest Result -  5.0% National Ave - Latest Result -  4.7%

SA
MPLE

Page 44



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 7 of 9

Definition

Apr 14 May 14 Jun 14 Jul 14 Aug 14 Sep 14 Oct 14 Nov 14 Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 Ave

+0.4% +0.3% +0.2% -0.3% -0.2% +0.5% +0.3% +0.6% +0.7% +0.4% +0.8% +1.0% +0.4%

Number and percentage of children who have not had their dental checks within timescale by Age

Placement types of the 82 (61.7%) children aged 16+ who did not have their dental checks within timescale

Commentary

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale

Theme Health & Wellbeing

Current RAG Amber - 89.0%

5 Year trend graph (May 10 - Mar 15) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Lead Sarah Skinner This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care who have been looked after for at least 
12 months at the end of the reporting period who had their teeth checked by a dentist.PID Reference K21

80%
82%
84%
86%
88%
90%
92%
94%
96%
98%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

33 

15 

8 9 

5 5 
7 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Leaving Care KCC Foster Care IFA Placed with Parents P&V Relatives and Friends Other

0-4 Yrs 
3 

2% 

5-9 Yrs 
10 
7% 

10-15 Yrs 
38 

29% 

16-17 Yrs 
82 

62% 

SA
MPLE

Page 45



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 8 of 9

Definition

Apr 14 May 14 Jun 14 Jul 14 Aug 14 Sep 14 Oct 14 Nov 14 Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 Ave

+0.4% +0.3% +0.3% +0.0% -0.2% -0.1% -0.2% -0.1% -0.3% -1.0% -1.3% -1.3% -0.3%

Age's of the children moving placements 3 or more times in the last 12 months

Commentary

Current RAG Amber - 9.6%

5 Year trend graph (May 10 - Mar 15) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Children in Care with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months as  at March 2015 by the number of placements

CIC Placement Stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months

Theme Placements
Lead Geoff Gurney This indicator is an important measure of the stability of care that a child has experienced. On the 

whole stability is associated with better outcomes – placement instability was highlighted by the 
Social Exclusion Unit as a key barrier to improving educational outcomes.PID Reference K16

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent inc. UASC Kent exc. UASC Stat Neighbour - Latest Result -  11.4%
National - Latest Result -  11.0%

4%
5%
6%
7%
8%
9%

10%
11%
12%
13%
14%

15 6 

56 48 

16 39 

0

20

40

60

80

100

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16-17 Yrs

Kent (exc. UASC)

UASC

110 

38 

17 

2 5 4 2 1 1 

3 Placements 4 Placements 5 Placements 6 Placements 7 Placements 8 Placements 9 Placements 10 Placements 11 Placements
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

SA
MPLE

Page 46



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 01/06/2015 KCPG CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15 Page 9 of 9

Definition

Commentary

Current RAG Green - 19.8%

5 Year trend graph (May 10 - Mar 15) Last 12 months

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted by age and gender

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted by end reason and gender

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted

Theme Adoption
Lead Geoff Gurney The number of children who cease being children in care with an adoption order as a percentage of 

all children who cease being children in care in the same period.PID Reference A12

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Stat Neighbour Ave - Latest Result -  14.9% National Ave - Latest Result -  14.0%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

5 

32 
25 

17 13 
7 6 

1 1 1 

5 

20 

15 

10 
11 

6 
2 

5 

10 

52 

40 

27 
24 

13 
8 6 

1 1 
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 11

Female

Male

73 

35 

58 

16 

131 

51 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

E11 - Adopted – application unopposed E12 - Adopted, consent dispensed with

Female

MaleSA
MPLE

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 June 2015

Subject: Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
2015-2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division:    All

Summary: Provides an updated Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy for the Corporate Parenting Panel 
discussion. This document is also a requirement of the Annex A 
inspection pack for Ofsted.

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Sufficiency, Commissioning and Placements Strategy 2015-2018 
replaces the previous Sufficiency Strategy which covered 2012-2015. It is a 
required document that will go into the Annex A OfSTED inspection requirements 
and sets out the council’s commitment to providing sufficient high quality 
accommodation for Kent’s Children in Care and Care Leavers. The strategy 
outlines the current position in Kent, the challenges facing the authority and its 
response to them. The strategy has been consulted on, including with Our 
Children and Young People’s Council (OCYPC) and Virtual School Kent Care 
Leaver apprentices.

2. Financial Implications

1.2 The council makes a significant financial commitment to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for Children in Care 
and Care Leavers. In particular, the cost of residential placements and 
independent fostering agency is significant.

1.3 This strategy has been informed by our 0-25 Transformation Programme. 
Progress against the key challenges identified in this document will lead to cost 
reductions for the authority. In particular:

 The redesign of early help and edge of care services will reduce the 
number of children requiring social care, and becoming Looked After

Page 49

Agenda Item B3



 The development of a co-ordinated accommodation commissioning 
plan for 16 plus will deliver improvements in quality and reduction in 
costs 

 Work to develop and expand the council’s fostering service will see a 
reduction in the use of external placements

 Enhancing the organisational effectiveness of social care will see 
improvements in placement stability along with increased rates of 
adoption and long term arrangements for Children in Care. This will 
lead to better outcomes and reduced costs.

3.  Progress to date
1.4 This strategy is being presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel for final 

sign off – prior to implementation

4. Legal Implications
1.5 The strategy meets the requirements of the Children’s Act and all other 

relevant legislation

5. Personnel and Training Implications
1.6 Once the strategy is approved it will be issued to staff and stakeholders 

involved in delivery. The review of progress against priorities identified will form 
an ongoing self-assessment and will be the subject of scrutiny at the Corporate 
Parenting Panel.

1.7 A progress report can be made available to Corporate Parenting Panel in 6 
months’ time setting out work done to address the identified priorities.

6. Property Implication
1.8 None

7. Implementation Proposals
1.9 Subject to approval by the Corporate Parenting Panel the strategy will be 

implemented from the 1st July 2015. 

1.10 A Commissioning Officer in the Children in Care Commissioning Team will 
take responsible for overseeing delivery and reporting on progress.

8. Recommendations
1.11 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to consider, comment and endorse the 

Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018

9. Background Documents:
None

Appendix: Appendix A, Draft Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy 2015-2018

10. Contact Details

Page 50



Report Author/s
Thom Wilson, Head of Children’s Strategic Commissioning 
(thom.Wilson@kent.gov.uk)
John Taylor, Commissioning Manager (john.taylor@kent.gov.uk)
Relevant Director
Philip Segurola (philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk) 

Page 51

mailto:thom.Wilson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:john.taylor@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Kent County Council’s
Sufficiency, Placement and 

Commissioning Strategy
2015 – 2018 

“Providing sufficient high quality accommodation for Children in Care 
and Care Leavers in Kent”

June 2015

Page 53



Contents           Page

Executive Summary 3

Introduction 5

Part One: Our Challenges 10
1A) What is going on in Kent? 10
1B) Our current approach to meeting our sufficiency duty 16
1C) Our key challenges 28
    
Part Two: Our Response 30
Challenge 1 30
Challenge 2 31
Challenge 3 32
Challenge 4 33
The impact of this strategy 34

Appendix A: Action Plan 37 

Page 54



Executive Summary

The Kent 2015-2018 Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy sets out the 
Council’s approach to meeting its responsibilities to provide secure, safe and appropriate 
accommodation to children in care and care leavers over the next three years. 

The document identifies the key challenges that we face in achieving sufficiency, and sets 
out our strategic approach to overcoming them. Finally we outline the actions we will take 
and the way we will measure our success.   

Part One: Our Challenges

Section 1A of the strategy explores need in Kent in detail, focusing on our children in care 
population and different levels of need and deprivation across the county. 

Key findings include the significant number of older children in care and care leavers in 
Kent, with numbers more than double the level that are found in comparable local 
authorities. Analysis shows a significant number of adolescents amongst our children in 
care population, and outlines the changing number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children in Kent.

In Section 1B we go on to discuss our current approach to achieving sufficiency in the 
county, using data and analysis to set out current trends and issues. This highlights the 
current variance between the provision of early help services and levels of need, and the 
difficulties the council faces in identifying placements within certain geographical areas, 
and to meet the needs of adolescents. 

Section 1C outlines the four key sufficiency challenges we face in Kent, these are:

Challenge 1: The need for effective support and practice to ensure that as many children 
as possible are able to remain living at home with their families

Challenge 2: Provision of effective support and availability of suitable accommodation to 
meet the needs of care leavers

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support children in care to have 
stability and to achieve positive outcomes

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs children in care, improving 
their experience of care and achieving permanence

Part Two: Our Response

Having identified our challenges, part two focuses on how we will meet them. This part of 
the strategy looks at each challenge in turn, defines the way we will approach it, sets out 
the specific actions we will take and the measures we will use to identify our progress.  

Page 55



Our response is centred around the five strategic levers that we believe will deliver 
improvements to sufficiency in Kent. These are:

1. Enhancing early help, prevention and partnership working
2. Further developing in-house foster care services
3. Continuously improving quality of care 
4. Market engagement
5. Continuing to build organisational effectiveness 

The action plan in Appendix A sets out the actions we will take, and the strategic lever that 
this relates to. 

We believe it is important that this strategy remains a live document. The strategy is 
aligned to our ambitious Transformation Programme, which is taking a systemic approach 
to improving outcomes for children in Kent. Throughout the life of this document we will 
continue to work with our children in care, care leavers and key partners to develop our 
plans and priorities. There will be quarterly reviews and oversight from our Corporate 
Parenting Panel to ensure the strategy remains as relevant until 2018 as it does now.

Page 56



Introduction
As a corporate parent, Kent County Council (KCC) is ambitious for the children and young 
people in its care, and is focused on them achieving the best possible outcomes. The 
lifting of the Notice to Improve Safeguarding and Children in Care Services (in place since 
early 2011) in November 2013 validated the progress the council has made but it is not 
enough for our Children’s Services to ‘require improvement’. The aspiration is for KCC 
Social Care to continue to improve the service provision offered to all our service users 
and aim to provide an ‘outstanding’ quality of care.

Since the requirement for a sufficiency strategy was first introduced by Government in 
2011 Kent has undergone significant change: numbers of children in care and care leavers 
(when including unaccompanied asylum seekers) have risen, financial challenges have 
intensified, the political landscape in Kent has changed and legislative changes have 
presented additional challenges. During this period KCC has been on an improvement 
journey. The next step, informed by the work of our Transformation Programme, is to 
transform services so that they meet the needs of our children and families within the 
challenging financial circumstances in which all local authorities have to operate.

Work undertaken as part of our Transformation Programme has provided us with a depth 
of understanding across the whole system that was previously unavailable. This has 
enabled colleagues across children and young people’s services to be able to focus on 
areas that will have the biggest impact on the lives of our children in care and care leavers. 
The delivery of the actions identified in this strategy will bring focus and clarity to our 
sufficiency offer, achieving the best possible balance between available resources and 
meeting need.

The Sufficiency Challenge
The challenge facing authorities to meet their sufficiency responsibilities is highlighted in 
the words of Amyas Morse, Head of the National Audit Office in November 2014:

“Most children are taken into care because of abuse and neglect. But too many of them 
are not getting the right placements the first time. If their complex and challenging learning 
and development needs are not correctly assessed and tackled, the result is likely to be 
significant long-term detriment to the children themselves as well as cost to society.” 

Kent has made some progress over the last four years, with improvements in placement 
stability and a reduction to the number of children with three or more placement moves in 
a year. However, as highlighted in the OfSTED feedback from our most recent inspection 
of Looked After Children services (July 2013) the council still faces significant challenges 
in meeting its sufficiency duty, needing to:

- offer a wider placement choice
- work more effectively with the independent sector developing a clear 

commissioning strategy
- recruit more foster carers to increase the service offer, both in terms of range of 

placements and geographical spread
- develop a clear ‘staying put’ strategy

Page 57



This strategy recognises these challenges. The quality, range, location and stability of the 
accommodation offer children in care and care leavers receive is key to enable them to 
make the most of the opportunities available to them.

This strategy sets out how KCC will achieve this over the next three years.

About this strategy
To maximise the impact of our available resources we have to identify those changes 
which can have the biggest and most positive impact on outcomes for children and young 
people. We know that placement stability and being placed within 20 miles of their 
originating address, when combined with the right support are key factors in these positive 
outcomes. They are set out within the Kent Children in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 
and include:

- children and young people being safe and healthy
- achieving well in education
- having positive relationships with family, carers and peers
- being able to develop into responsible adults with positive future choices
 

As we seek to create a significant impact on these outcomes, we have taken a simple 
approach to designing this strategy. We believe that the key to making a difference is to 
first establish the challenges that we face, and define the way that we will seek to 
overcome them. We have set out the rest of the strategy in two sections:

Part One: Our Challenges 
We started by asking ourselves “what is going on here?” what are the facts and the trends 
in Kent. We have set out information about the demography in the county, including 
information about the social groups most likely to need our help, and where they are most 
likely to live.  In our answer we have included more detailed information about children in 
care in Kent, how their numbers, age profile and ethnicity are changing. 

Next we’ve described our current approaches to meeting sufficiency, the types of support 
and some key analysis about the trends that we feel are most important. 

The conclusion of Part One is our answer to the question – “what are our key challenges?” 
This builds on the information we have outlined and summarises the factors that we feel 
we are most important to address. 

Part Two: Our Response
Part two focuses on each of the challenges in turn, establishing the strategic approach that 
we believe will have the required impact. In doing this we outline the policies and levers 
that we will use to deliver improvements. These are our strategic anchors; building on our 
analysis to set out the themes that we believe will enable us to improve sufficiency in the 
county.

We then outline the specific actions that will we take, and the measures that we will use to 
identify whether or not we have made a positive impact. 

Page 58



The Kent Context
Kent is a county of contrasts: the leafy green ‘Garden of England’ traditional view of the 
county contrasts with wards suffering some of the highest levels of deprivation in the 
country and communities experiencing very challenging circumstances. 

Like every local authority KCC is seeking to balance the demand for services, creating 
efficiencies where possible while providing the best possible services for our most 
vulnerable children and young people. Kent is proud that we are basing our 
Transformation of services on the improvement of outcomes for children, therefore leading 
to lower costs and greater efficiency. Our Transformation Programme will improve 
outcomes for children in the county, and underpins this strategy. 

Kent is in a unique position in relation to the market place for external residential and 
foster care. As a result of relatively low property prices in east coast communities during 
the 80’s and 90’s many children’s homes and foster agencies were established. These 
have meant that Kent now has a large and thriving social care sector from which to 
potentially identify placements to meet need. However this market is substantially larger 
than the need for Kent children (KCC places children in only a third of local children’s 
homes for example) and has led to a considerable number of children in the care of other 
local authorities being placed in Kent. In 2014 this number was greater than 1200. 

The number of other local authority children in Kent raises particular questions about 
Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding that will be considered elsewhere. However the 
issue is relevant to this strategy as it establishes the context in which KCC works with local 
service providers, for whom Kent children make up a small proportion of those they 
support in the county. 

The Voice of the Child
Kent is committed to ensuring the voice of the child is heard and listened to at every 
stage of the process of developing accommodation solutions to meet its sufficiency 
responsibilities.  

A recent LiLac inspection (young people’s inspection of services, supported by the 
National Voice) of social care showed Kent had achieved four of the seven standards of 
quality participation:

- Shared Values
- Care Planning and Review
- Complaints and Advocacy
- Recruitment and Selection

The council will be working towards achieving the remaining three standards over the 
coming six months as set out in our Participation Strategy.

In developing this strategy KCC has consulted with children in care through its Children in 
Care Council and care leavers who are employed as apprentices with Virtual School Kent 
(VSK). The strategy has also considered the responses of 326 children in care and care 
leavers recently responded to the ‘Your Voice Matters’ survey conducted by VSK.

Priorities identified by Kent’s children and young people included:
- Accommodation in the right location, that was safe and secure
- Stability of placement, not having to keep moving around

Page 59



- Foster carers who treated them well, involved them fully in family life and did not 
exclude them from activities such as holidays

- Being able to access support when needed
- Consistency of professional, keeping the same social worker and not having to tell 

their story more than once

KCC will continue to consult with children in care and care leavers through the meetings of 
their council, bringing updates on progress and seeking their views on identifying priorities 
and proposed actions. It is the council’s intention to more fully engage children and young 
people in strategic commissioning. The aim will be to ensure the child’s voice is evident 
and impacts upon service design leading to improved outcomes for children and young 
people. 

Methodology and Data
This document is based on evidence gathered from a number of interviews and focus 
groups with young people and professionals as well as desk top data analysis of a range 
of data gathered from a variety of KCC and national sources including:

- Management Information Unit (KCC)
- Access to Resources Team (KCC)
- Social Care Adolescent Support teams (KCC)
- Early Help and Preventative services (KCC)
- Focus groups
- Background to 16 plus accommodation picture (Catch 22)
- Information provided by Commissioned Services (previously KCC Supporting 

People)
- Interviews with providers of 16 plus emergency accommodation (voluntary 

sector)
- Needs analysis following November 2012 Ombudsman report (KCC)
- Analysis of a range of Local and National Government reports
- Consultation with Children in Care and Care Leavers
- Details of OfSTED comparable data from 2013

The strategy also reflects the analysis that has taken place as part of our Transformation 
Programme, which has gained a clearer understanding of the range of services the council 
currently delivers and their impact.

Please note, throughout the strategy different data sets are used and the timeframes to 
which this data refers can vary.

Legal Context, Statutory Guidance and Supporting Documentation
This strategy has been developed with due regard to relevant legislation and guidance 
including (but not exclusively):

- Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
- Children’s Act 1989
- Care Standards Act, 2000
- Statutory guidance, Safeguarding Children and Young People from Sexual 

Exploitation, 2009
- Sufficiency of Accommodation Guidance 2010
- Care Planning Regulations 2010
- Children’s Homes Regulations, 2011
- Youth Homelessness Ombudsman Report – 09 017 510, 2012

Page 60



- Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act, 2012
- Children and Families Act 2014
- Children’s Homes and Looked After Children (Miscellaneous amendments) 

(England) Regulations 2013
- Into Independence, not out of care: 16 plus care options. Select committee report, 

July 2014
- The Sexual Exploitation of Children: it couldn’t happen here, could it? November 

2014
- National Audit Report on Children in Care, November 2014

Supporting Documentation
- Children and Adolescent Mental Health Needs Assessment for Kent, February 2015
- Emotional Health and Wellbeing Strategy
- Every Day Matters: Children and Young People’s Strategic Plan 2013-2016
- KCC Action Plan in response to the Winterbourne View Report, June 2013
- OfSTED inspection report, July 2013
- Kent and Medway Safeguarding Children Procedures, February 2014
- Kent and Medway Safeguarding Children Abused Through Sexual Exploitation, May 

2014
- KCC Children in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 
- KCC Care Leavers Policy
- KCC Children’s Services Improvement Action Plan, August 2014
- Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priorities 2014-2015
- Education and Young People’s Strategic Priorities, 2014-2015
- SCS Divisional Business Plan 2014-2015
- KSCB Strategic Priorities 2014-2015
- Early Help and Preventative Services One Year Plan and Prospectus 2015
- KCC Social Work Contract

Links
- Kent Children’s Safeguarding Board http://kscb.org.uk/ 
- District employability offer: 

http://www.kelsi.org.uk/curriculum_and_pupil_learning/skills_and_employability/raisi
ng_attainment/district_employability_offer.aspx

Page 61

http://kscb.org.uk/


Part One: Our Challenges

1A) What is going on in Kent?
In this part of the strategy we explore what we know about sufficiency in Kent. This is built 
upon the knowledge of local practitioners, our management information and analysis, and 
the in-depth research we have undertaken through our Transformation Programme. This is 
the section of the strategy that establishes the sufficiency challenges we face.

Demographic data
Kent has an increasingly diverse 0 -19 year old population with a changing ethnic profile.  
The current 0-18 population in Kent is 346,600 which is expected to increase to 367,800 
by 2022.

Evidence from the Indices of Deprivation 2010 (Headline findings for Kent DEP2/11 – 
March 2011) illustrates the diversity within Kent.  Whilst Sevenoaks has a deprivation 
score of 10.49 making it one of the least deprived areas in the country – the deprivation 
score in Thanet is 28.47, nearly three times as high. There are significant variations within 
each of these districts, with pockets of deprivation present across all districts.

The correlation between child poverty, poor outcomes and children coming into care is well 
established. Thanet, Swale, Shepway and Gravesham have the highest levels of child 
poverty with rates of over 20%. This contrasts with rates of only 11% in Tonbridge & 
Malling, Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells. However there is considerable variation within 
districts. Through in-depth analysis of Mosaic data we have identified that 85% of children 
in care in Kent and more than 50% of children in need have come from three 
population groups which make up 20% of the county’s population:

I – Transient young singles and students on benefits, renting terraces in areas of high 
ethnic diversity

K – Singles and lone parents on low incomes renting terraces in town centres

L – Lone parents with young children living in high crime areas on large council estates

The ethnic profile of Kent’s 0-19 population has changed since the 2001 census. Black 
and minority ethnic communities now account for just over 12% of the population (2011 
census), an increase of 6.4% since 2001. This is reflected in the ethnic profile of children 
in care, with a particular increase in the number of Black, African, Caribbean, Black British 
and Mixed Heritage children in care.

Children in Care and Care Leaver Population
KCC currently has a child in care population of 1,881 (December 2014), with the 
population steadily increasing over the last 5 years. Having been below its statistical 
neighbour levels up until 2010, there was a sharp increase in the rate per 10,000 after this 
point (see graph 1). This may have been as a consequence of the outcome of the 2010 
OfSTED inspection but also an increase in the numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children who arrive in Kent via the port of Dover (see graphs 5 and 6).

The latest available data for Kent gives a rate of 56 children in care per 10,000 children 
including asylum seekers. This drops to 49 per 10,000 (below the rate of our statistical 
neighbours) if asylum data is not included.

Page 62



Graph 1. Children in Care rate per 10,000, comparison ( 2010 – 2014)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

England

Statistical Neighbours

Kent (exc. UASC)

Kent (Inc. UASC)

Rate
per

10,000

Age profile of Children in Care
The geographical and age profile of children in care in Kent is shown in graph 2. It is clear 
that the highest number of children in care come from the East of the county, where there 
is most deprivation. It is also clear that the numbers of children in care dramatically 
increase in the older age ranges.

Graph 2. Age profile of Children in Care in Kent, by area (including disability)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

North

East

South

West

Disability

Age

Number

Kent’s Children in Care population broadly mirrors national and statistical neighbour 
trends. However graph 3 shows that Kent has a significantly higher proportion of children 
in care aged 16 to 18.

Page 63



Graph 3. Age range of Children in Care comparison 
 

Under 1 1-4 5-9 10-15 16 plus
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

England

Statistical Neighbours

Kent

Age

%

Graph 4 shows 16/17 children in care starters by area and team. 

Graph 4. 16/17 years olds CiC starters by area/team, December 2014 (year to date)

UASC South East West North Disability
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

UASC

South

East

West

North

Disability

Area / Team

Number

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)
Due to its location and the presence of the Port of Dover, Kent receives significantly more 
UASC than its statistical neighbours. The figure had fallen in 2012 and 2013 but increased 
significantly in 2014 (see graph 5).

Kent County Council has no control over the number of UASC who enter the county. The 
current levels of political unrest in the Middle East and African sub-continent have resulted 

Page 64



in significant increase in the numbers of UASC arriving in Kent during 2014 (see graphs 4 
and 6). 

Graph 5. Numbers of UASC in care (all ages) comparison 

230 230

190 190

220

41 41
30 26 25

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
0

50

100

150

200

250

Kent Statistical Neighbours (average)

Number

Prior to 2014 there has been a reduction in the number of UASC arriving in Kent during the 
colder winter months. However data shows that in 2014/15 this reduction has not taken 
place, with numbers much higher than expected for the time of year. Based on advice from 
the government the council is expecting the numbers to continue to increase, with 2015/16 
estimated at 10% higher than in 2014/15.

Graph 6. Numbers of UASC Children in Care (all ages), April to September 2014

230 220
238

256
278

293

Apr-14 May-14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Month

Number

In the last 2 years, UASC have gone from being 10.5% of Kent’s children in care 
population in March 2013 to 20% in February 2015.

Page 65



Ethnic profile of Kent’s Children in Care (not including UASC)
Of the 1,530 children in care in Kent in February 2015 (not including UASC), 1335 are 
White British. The remaining 195 children in care are made up of 17 different ethnic 
groupings with the 6 largest groups shown in graph 7.

Graph 7. Ethnic breakdown of Children in Care population by number

Any other
White

Background

Any other
Mixed

Background

White
and Black
Caribbean

Gypsy/Roma African White/Black
African

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2014

2013
Number

Although the ethnic minority children in care population has remained broadly unchanged 
over the last 2 years, it should be noted that the reduction in overall numbers (94)  in the 
last year would appear has come from the ‘White British’ population which has reduced by 
97 in the same period. 

Children in Care with Disabilities
Kent has a total of 94 children in care with disabilities (February 2015), of these 65 are 
supported by the East Kent disabilities teams and the remaining 29 by the West Kent team 
(see graph 8). 

Graph 8. Children in care with disabilities (by age and team)

Under 1 1-4 5-9 10-15 16+
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

East Kent Disability Team

West Kent Disability Team

Age

Number

Page 66



The predominant disabilities in Kent’s Children in Care are Autistic Spectrum Conditions, 
learning disabilities and associated behavioural problems. Children over the age of 10 are 
particularly represented in these needs (see graph 9) and are some of our most difficult 
children to place.

Graph 9. Disability type by age

Autis
m/A

sp
erg

ers

Le
ar

ning

Behav
iour

Communica
tio

n

M
obilit

y

Epile
ptic

Inco
ntin

ence
Visi

on

Oth
er D

DA

Hear
ing

Perso
nal 

Car
e

Deaf/
Blin

d

Consc
iousn

ess

Han
d Fu

ncti
on

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Under 1

1-4

5-9

10-15

16+

Number

Care Leavers

In June 2014 KCC had a care leaver population of just over 1,000 with 413 UASC and 589 
citizen young people. Of these 807 are currently based in Kent. This compares to our 
statistical neighbours who have an average of 327 care leavers.

The potential negative impact of leaving care too early and living independently without the 
right support has been well documented with the Children Right’s Director’s survey on care 
leavers. Children in Care Council (CICC) meetings show that many care leavers feel that 
they leave care too early and often feel isolated and lonely. Care leavers are over 
represented in statistics relating to poor outcomes, for example nationally 34% of care 
leavers are NEET compared to 15.5% of the general population.

Page 67



1B) Our current approach to meeting our sufficiency duty

In this section we outline our current approach to meeting our sufficiency duty including 
Early Help, our current accommodation offer and outline our current levels of placement 
stability.

Early Help
In Kent, we work hard to ensure the best outcomes for children in care. We are clear that   
the best place for children to grow up is with their families, and we will do all we can to 
support resilience within families. 

KCC is focused on keeping children safe and we are committed to providing support that 
minimises risk for children on the edge of care, improving family relationships and enabling 
them to remain at home where it is appropriate to do so. The council has a range of in-
house and externally provided services that provide support.  This support can be provided 
through Early Help services or through Social Care services and can work in combination 
to promote positive parenting. 

Historically, the majority of Early Help services used the Common Assessment Framework 
(CAF) but in September 2014, Kent adopted a new early help assessment process 
through the Kent Family Support Framework.

Graph 10 shows the current expenditure on Early Help and Prevention staff relative to the 
size of the IKL population (see Page 10) in each district. The graph clearly identifies a lack 
of consistency in how resources have been allocated historically. 

Graph 10. Early help and prevention staff spend by district

Page 68



Family Group Conferencing (FGC)
Kent’s Family Group Conferencing Service is the largest mandated FGC Service in 
England and Wales delivering around 450 FGCs every year. There was a 26% increase in 
referrals to FGC Service in 2014, representing a year on year increase of 17% for the last 
3 years.

This long established service has received nationally recognised ‘Accreditation’ status. 
Using an easily replicated model of delivery, the service is a countywide model that has 
been applied in both Specialist Children’s Services and Preventative Services. The 
success of the service has led to a high volume of referrals which is currently above 
capacity. 

A financial evaluation of the FGC Service in Kent by Professor Peter Marsh from Sheffield 
University showed that children in families who did not have a FGC were far more likely to 
end up in care (62%) than those that did go to FGC (25%). This equates to cost savings 
resulting from FGC of £4m-£7m, depending on the number of years the children remain in 
care. 

In 2014, 79% of children and young people, assessed as being on the edge of care at 
point of FGC remained living with their families 6-9 months after the FGC intervention. Of 
the 14 Early Help FGCs that we have outcome data for so far, 10 are closed to all services 
(other than universal services) and one family have been referred to SCS.

Remand Placements
We have been successful in meeting our targets to ensure that remands to youth detention 
accommodation are no more than 7.5% of all remand decisions (with the exception of 
those involving unconditional bail) in each of the last 3 years. Kent endeavours to ensure 
that children and young people on criminal court bail are able to remain at home; at times 
where this is not possible we will consider remand to the local authority or alternative 
placements. While there are long established Bail Support & Supervision Services, both in-
house and externally provided, at this current time there is no readily identifiable set of 
resources for Courts to use as an alternative to a placement in the youth justice secure 
estate when they refuse bail.

A joint strategy between Youth Justice and Specialist Children’s Services, is being 
developed which will be designed to minimise the numbers of children and young people 
who are remanded to Youth Detention Accommodation. This will restrict the use of this 
type of remand to those who are assessed as presenting a very serious risk of harm to 
others. The plan will establish a pathway to community based placements that can 
effectively manage the risks associated with this population. Further work is required with 
police partners to reduce the likelihood of the child / young person offending again during 
the period of the remand and to ensure attendance at scheduled Court hearings. 

Children in Care

The Accommodation Offer
Packages of accommodation and/or support are provided to over 2,500 children in care 
and care leavers. The needs of the child or young person are central to the decision about 
their accommodation offer. We aim to place all children (where appropriate) with our own 
in-house foster care service. A range of other placement types are used.

Page 69



The action plan included with this strategy will identify what actions KCC will take to 
ensure that it continues to meet its sufficiency duty and in particular is better able to 
respond to the needs of children and young people who can be more difficult to place.

The KCC accommodation approach is as follows: 

Children 0 -16: In-house fostering
Independent sector fostering 
Independent sector residential provision

Young people 16 plus: In-house fostering
Independent sector fostering 
Independent sector residential provision
Semi-independent accommodation
Supported lodgings
Private renting – independent
Foyers / Hostels

Placement Stability
The quality and suitability of our accommodation offer for children in care is evidenced by 
data relating to placement stability. Of particular relevance are statistics regarding children 
who have three or more placement moves in a year, the proportion who are in the same 
placement for the last two years and the proportion placed within 20 miles of home.

The current position in Kent is:

- 9.6% of children in care have had 3 or more moves in the last 12 months to 
September 2014. Kent is working towards a target no more than 9%

- 72.7% of children in care have been in the same placement for the last 2 years, 
which exceeds the council’s target of 70%

- 82.4% of children are placed within 20 miles of their originating address

Although currently exceeding its target of placing 80% of children within 20 miles of their 
home address, graph 11 illustrates the challenge facing social care teams in different parts 
of the county and those working with disabled children. Over the lifetime of this strategy 
Kent will particularly seek to improve placements within 20 miles for disabled children and 
those in the west of the county whilst working to improve levels across the county as a 
whole.

Fostering
Kent County Council currently manages a large in-house fostering service with over 870 
registered carers, and 1055 children placed with them. Where appropriate, when a child 
(aged under 16) comes into care, it is KCC’s ambition that they are placed with an in-
house carer. Currently KCC places 69% of its children in foster care with 8 out of 10 of 
those placed with in-house services, the remainder with independent providers. Some 
children in care are placed with connected persons who can be relatives or friends.

The map on page 20 shows the geographical distribution of KCC carers across the county. 
We have been generally successful in recruiting carers, but face continuing challenges in 
the North and West. 

Page 70



Graph 11. Percentage of children in care placed more than 20 miles from originating 
address by district, December 2014

Disability West North South East Kent
60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

Area / Team

%

Whilst acknowledging the important role that Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) have 
to play in supporting Kent to find and make the right placements for its children, the council 
has focused on prioritising the in-house service. Analysis undertaken as part of our 
Transformation Programme has identified that to provide an independent sector foster 
placement costs approximately £400 per week more than an in-house placement. 
Maximising the use of our in-house services will allow resources to be used more flexibly 
to increase the range of support available to our children and young people.

As can be seen in graphs 12 and 13, the majority of IFA use is for adolescents. The use of 
IFA placements for disabled children in care also increases as they get older. For disabled 
children in care under 10, 77% are placed with KCC foster carers, for those aged 10-17 
this falls to 43%. A focus for this strategy will be to increase the capacity of our in-house 
service to place adolescents.

Graph 12. Foster Care demand

Page 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



Graph 13. Age profile of new IFA placements

KCC in collaboration with Medway Council has in place an Independent Fostering 
Providers (IFP) framework. This came into effect in June 2013 and is in place until July 
2017 with a total of 33 agencies. The framework seeks to work in partnership with IFP’s to 
achieve high quality foster care that meets individual children and young people’s needs 
and outcomes, at the right time, in the right location and at the best possible price.

Residential
With the exception of five short break units for disabled children and Millbank, a reception 
centre for newly arrived 16/17 year old male UASC, KCC does not own or operate any 
residential provision for children in care or care leavers. Residential provision is sourced 
via spot purchase arrangements with providers based on the needs of the child.

Through a desire to maintain children in a family environment KCC places relatively low 
numbers of children in residential provision. Currently only 6% of our children in care 
population are in residential accommodation against a national average of 11%.

However, our success in maintaining children in a home environment does mean that 
those who go into residential care are those with the most complex and challenging needs, 
requiring specialist provision. Despite the large number of residential children’s homes 
within Kent boundaries the council still finds it challenging to secure placements for some 
of our children in Kent. This is particularly an issue for disabled children – whilst only 24% 
of residential placements in Kent are for disabled children, this raises to 46% of all 
placements made outside the county. These placements can be distant from the homes 
address and cause disruption for families and have a negative impact on family 
relationships.

Some of KCC’s residential placements are extremely high cost (see graph 14) with the 
county consistently making placements costing higher than the national benchmark.  
Although the level of need of some of our children may contribute to high costs we are 
confident that by working with the market we can secure better value whilst maintaining 
the quality of placement.

The potential negative impact on children and families when youngsters are placed a long 
way from their originating address is well known. In addition the cost of these placements 

Page 74



and the additional time and resource required from social workers to support children 
means Kent is seeking to place more children within Kent boundaries. 

Graph 14. Unit cost of residential placements vs national benchmark

KCC recently joined the West Sussex Dynamic Purchasing System, a framework for 
residential education providers. Some placements have been made through the framework 
and its impact on the quality and cost of placements will be evaluated throughout  2015--
2016.

Mental Health needs of Children in Care
The Children in Care Mental Health Service is a dedicated service for children in care. The 
specialist team is part of the Kent & Medway Children & Young Peoples Service (ChYPS; 
formerly known as CAMHS).  The service is for children and young people up to the age of 
18.

This is a multi-disciplinary team, including: social workers, child & adolescent 
psychotherapists, systemic practitioners, family therapists and clinical psychologists.
The aim of the service is to promote placement stability by helping foster carers, children & 
young people and other professionals in the ‘network’ around the child, to understand and 
support mental health issues that may be affecting the placement.  The service can 
provide specialist consultation, therapeutic assessments and a range of interventions for 
children & young people.

There are currently (Jan 2015) 437 Kent and Medway (64 Medway children) CIC receiving 
a mental health service.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 
Kent underwent a thematic inspection into Child Sexual Exploitation conducted by OfSTED 
in October 2014. The OfSTED report was published in November 2014. Kent is currently 
working with central government and other authorities developing further research into 
CSE and is taking the opportunity to develop its practice further through learning from 
others in this area. 

The council and local clinical commissioning groups have jointly commissioned specific 
services to provide support to young people who have been victims of sexual abuse, as 
well as those that display harmful sexual behaviour. These services and our response to 

Page 75



CSE are considered in the development of the county’s Emotional Wellbeing Strategic 
Plan “The Way Ahead”, in which it is anticipated that new service arrangements will be in 
place from August 2016.

Signs of Safety
Signs of Safety is an innovative strengths-based, safety-organised approach to child 
protection casework. The heart of the Signs of Safety process is a risk assessment and 
case planning format that is meaningful for professionals as well as parents and children. It 
offers a simple yet rigorous assessment format that the practitioner can use to elicit, in 
common language, the professionals’ and family members’ views regarding concerns or 
dangers, existing strengths, safety and envisioned safety. It emphasises the need to keep 
children at the centre of assessment and planning and incorporates a number of direct 
work tools to support this.

It has been agreed that Kent will adopt the model as a ‘whole system’ approach to working 
with children and their families through Early Help, children in need of social work services, 
at risk of significant harm or in the care system. The model will be adopted as the basis for 
CP conferences, supported by briefings for multi-agency partners through the KSCB and 
information leaflets for children and their families. The approach emphasises that training 
is a starting point and that successful embedding requires the ideas and practices to be 
supported by supervision and organisational processes. Fundamental to this is 
establishing a Practice Leaders group who support implementation and take a lead role in 
developing practice depth and quality. The experience of implementing authorities is that 
the model takes from 2-5 years to fully establish.

Evaluation of the model indicates increased social worker skill and confidence, more 
effective working relationships with children and families achieving positive change. There 
is evidence that children are less likely to become subject to a child protection plan or to 
come into care. The overall aim of the model is to improve the quality and consistency of 
practice across the county. 

The roll out of signs of safety has already begun in social care teams and will be rolled out 
across Early Help services from Summer 2015.

Pathways out of care

Returning home
Kent is committed to ensuring that children can live and grow up in their own families 
whenever possible and as part of this work to try and enable children who have come into 
care to return home to their families where it is safe and appropriate to do so. This is 
described as rehabilitation and will involve the provision of significant services both in 
Social Care and Early Help. Any return home is supported by a robust support plan to 
enable the return home to be successful and permanent.

Where children cannot be cared for by their birth parents, Kent will in the first instance 
seek alternative care arrangements for them within their extended family networks and 
family friends using a range of support where required and support families to apply for 
court orders where appropriate. These alternative care arrangements will ensure that 
children grow up within their extended family, for example living with siblings and do not 
continue to be children in care. This will include children who are made subject to Special 
Guardianship Orders. Over the last three years KCC has supported 44 SGO arrangements 
annually.

Page 76



Kent is committed to securing permanent alternative arrangements for children who are 
unable to live with their families. This will include adoption, especially for younger children. 
Where children are not able to return home, to live with their extended family, or to be 
adopted, Kent will seek long term fostering arrangements to enable children to grow up in 
a loving, permanent and stable family within the care system. There will be a small number 
of young people who are unable to live in a foster family due to the intensity of their needs, 
and these young people will be found alternative care arrangements with a clear long term 
plan. This will include young people in residential children’s homes.

Adoption
Following a review carried out by in July 2011 by Martin Narey, the former Chief Executive 
of Barnardos, KCC entered into a partnership with Coram, a highly regarded children’s 
charity with an established and successful track record.

The improvement journey of the partnership has been fast and very successful to date. 
Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 145 children were adopted in Kent, which is 
significantly higher (38.1%) than the number of children adopted in 2012/13 and over 
double (107.1%) the number of adoptions achieved in 2011/12 (70). Between April and 
October 2014 a further 83 adopter households were approved.

During the summer of 2014 a follow up review of the service was undertaken by Jonathan 
Pearce who had led the Independent Improvement Board for Ofsted. This found that the 
adoption service in Kent now has considerable strengths. Kent aims to build on this 
progress over the next 3 years.

Like all authorities Kent continues to face challenges, in particular the decline in placement 
orders since the September 2013 court of appeal ruling. However, the latest data (March 
2015) shows that in key areas Kent is making progress:

- Average days from ‘placement order being granted ‘ to ‘agency decision to match’, 
for children who have been adopted has continued to improve with the current rate 
of 208.1 days showing an improvement of 15 days on the 3 year average 
performance

- Average days between ‘child becoming looked after’ and ‘being placed for adoption’ 
for children who have been adopted shows significant improvement with the current 
figure of 537.8 days showing a reduction of 142 days on the 3 year average

- The percentage of children who ceased to be looked after who were adopted (exc. 
UASC) is currently at 20.6%, again an improvement on the 3 year average of 7%

These figures compare favourably to both statistical neighbour and national performance 
levels. However the council is aware that it still has some way to go to meet government 
targets. We aim to consolidate improvements by:

- Achieving earlier permanence and improved outcomes for children in care 
- Increasing overall numbers of children in Kent being placed for adoption as a 

percentage of the children in care population
- Reducing time taken to identify adoptive placements
- Reducing time taken to place children with adopters following an adoption decision  

and from placement order 
- Increasing post adoption support and ensuring minimal adoption placement 

disruption

Page 77



- Improving transition points in the child’s journey to adoption

The Adoption service has been identified as a service to be considered for Phase 2 of the 
Transformation Programme. Kent has established that the preferred future service options 
for Kent’s Adoption Service will be to establish a Voluntary Adoption Agency  which builds 
on the current improvement journey and ensures that all children who are identified for 
adoption will achieve a permanent match in a timely way. 

The establishment of the VAA for Kent aims to strengthen current provision, and will 
innovate, providing a new style delivery partnership between local authority and voluntary 
sector provision. It will also ensure that the future provision will continue to focus on 
making successful adoptions for ‘harder to place’ children by reason of age or delay, BME 
community, sibling group of 2 or more, and children with specific additional needs.

Kent County Council are currently in the process of procuring a contractor to provide a 
VAA for Kent going forward, which should be in place in the Autumn of 2015. 

16 plus Accommodation (Children in Care and Care Leavers)
All young people in care are prepared for adulthood and living independent lives where 
appropriate. The care plan and pathway plan will set out the needs of the young person to 
be fully prepared for independent living.  The council will use a range of support services 
to prepare a young person for independence as well as appropriate on-going support to 
ensure a smooth transition to independent living.

KCC currently provides 576 packages of accommodation and/or support to 16-17 year 
olds as well as supporting just over 1,000 care leavers. The council offers a range of 
accommodation options for 16 plus young people and care leavers including supported 
lodgings, shared accommodation and living independently in the community. The council 
also has a contract for ‘Accommodation Services for Looked after Children and Care 
Leavers’ to provide shared accommodation for care leavers across the county.

Supporting People within KCC offer a range of accommodation solutions and support 
services for vulnerable young people. Although currently used by small numbers of Care 
Leavers, this strategy will inform the commissioning of these services to better meet the 
needs of Care Leavers.

Whilst support is important for all children in care, the nature of support for 16 plus young 
people is one of the main factors in ensuring a successful accommodation solution. 
Currently Supporting People commission a range of floating support services to help 
vulnerable young people to maintain accommodation placements and KCC is currently 
commissioning a similar service to provide support to UASC. The council is keen to ensure 
that support is provided based on need, not age. Support should be flexible, responsive to 
the needs of the young person and it must be available when the young person needs it: 
24 hours a day, 365 days per year. 

The current accommodation picture for 16 plus children in care over the last 2 years is 
shown in Graph 15.

Graph 15 shows a small number of children in Bed and Breakfast accommodation (B and 
B) during 2014. KCC make every effort not to place children in B and B and at the time of 
writing there are no Kent children in care living in B and B accommodation. During 2014, 
three young people were placed in B and B on a short term basis of between 2 days and 4 

Page 78



weeks. We have robust arrangements in place to ensure that B&B is not used to 
accommodate children in care in the future – with a Director Notification system for any 
use of this type of accommodation.

Managing the needs of late entrants to care presents a number of challenges to the 
council. As well as the issue of young people being placed in B and B by District Councils, 
some young people who do not want to be looked after or become looked after but refuse 
our accommodation offer can end up being regarded as intentionally homeless by District 
Councils. 

Graph 15. 16 plus Children in Care and there accommodation type

Fo
ste

r C
ar

e (K
CC norm

al)

Su
pporti

ve
 Lo

dgin
gs IFA

Se
mi-In

dependent

Tra
nsit

ional

Resid
entia

l (P
&V)

W
ith

 Fr
iends/R

elat
ions

Plac
ed at

 home

W
ith

 Par
ents 

(YP ch
oice

)

B&B - N
orm

al

Fo
ye

r

In Custo
dy

Homeless 
/ S

ofa Su
rfi

ng

Hosp
ita

l

B&B - E
nhan

ce
d

Priv
at

e Rentin
g -

Independent

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

2013
2014

The change in circumstances for young people as they transition from being a child in care 
to a care leaver can present challenges in relation to accommodation and support needs. 
Many care leavers are keen to live independently whilst some are not yet ready for 
independence and wish to remain with a family. The ‘staying put’ agenda will support 
those who wish to remain with their foster family but for those wishing to move to more 
independent living there is a challenge for the council to support them whilst working with 
partners to provide realistic and timely accommodation options.

The accommodation status of current care leaver accommodation is shown in Graph 16. 
An analysis of 482 care leavers identified 42% who would prefer to live in a different type 
of accommodation with over half of them wanting to live independently (see graph 17).

For many care leavers, the financial reality of living independently and the potential 
pressures of maintaining a tenancy is something they do not have the resources or 
knowledge to manage effectively. 

Staying Put Policy
The requirement for local authorities to support and monitor arrangements whereby young 
people remain with their former foster carers beyond their eighteenth birthday is set out in 

Page 79



Section 23CZA of the Children Act 1989, which is a section added to the Act by the 
Children and Families Act 2014. ‘Staying Put’ arrangements enable young people to 
remain with their former foster carers in order to help ensure that they are adequately  
prepared for adulthood, can experience a transition similar to their peers, avoid social 
exclusion and be less likely to experience a subsequent housing and tenancy breakdown. 
KCC’s Care Leaver policy provides more information on our ‘Staying Put’ arrangements.

Graph 16. Current breakdown of care leaver accommodation 

Graph 17. Ideal placements for care leavers - where different from current placement

Page 80



1C) Our key challenges

This section of the strategy builds upon the information and analysis in 1A and 1B to 
establish the key challenges we face, and that we will seek to tackle in the next three 
years.

Challenge 1: The need for effective support and practice to ensure that 
as many children as possible are able to remain living at home with 
their families

- The provision of Early Help services is not currently aligned to level of need,  
deprivation, or population groupings that are known to require most support

- The projected increase in population indicates that without additional action there is 
likely to be an increase in the numbers of children in care

- Data indicates a need to target resources to support specific Mosaic groups who 
make up 20% of the county’s population

- In the past Early Help resources have not been effectively aligned to levels of need 
in the county, or effectively targeted to those most in need

Challenge 2: Provision of effective support and availability of suitable 
accommodation to meet the needs of care leavers

- The number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children in Kent has a substantial 
impact. The increase in numbers looks set to continue, and has a disproportionate 
effect on our need for accommodation and support for care leavers.

- Kent has a high number of adolescents in care, some of whom can be the hardest 
children to place. Access to accommodation and support is a key challenge for our 
work with these young people.

- Managing the accommodation and support needs of the high number of care 
leaver’s countywide presents a significant challenge, as Kent has approximately 
three times as many as the average for our statistical neighbours.

- As a two tier council Kent has an agreed Youth Homelessness protocol with the 12 
District Councils in the county to support young people who present as homeless. 
The impact of the Southwark Judgement has affected all authorities, increasing the 
number of late “entrants to care”, however this appears to be a particular issue for 
Kent. 

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support children in 
care to have stability and to achieve positive outcomes

- We do not have enough in-house foster care placements across the county for 
children with complex needs, including those with disabilities, or more challenging, 
older children. This is a particular issue in the West of the county.

- Kent is paying a very high average price for residential care in comparison to other 
areas as well as placing too high a proportion outside Kent. This is partly explained 
by the fact that the service is used only for those with the most complex needs

- The ethnic profile of children in Kent is changing, consideration needs to be given to 
what specific actions the council needs to take to meet the needs of ethnic minority 
children

- The council places too many children and young people with complex needs in high 
costs residential placements outside Kent. 

Page 81



- Less than half of all disabled children in care aged between 10 and 18 years old are 
supported by the council’s foster service

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs children 
in care, improving their experience of care and achieving permanence

- Having succeeded in supporting many more children to be adopted successfully, 
there is now a need for an increased level, and variety of post-adoption support

- Good progress has been made in increasing the number of children placed for 
adoption. However we continue to face challenges to find placements for some 
groups of children who are harder to place. The council also needs to increase its 
level and variety of post-adoption support

- Meeting the emotional and mental health needs of children in care, contributing to 
placement stability

- The council is committed to implementing Signs of Safety as a means to improve 
practice and focus on the needs of the child

- Ensuring that the therapeutic needs of victims of abuse and exploitation can be met

Page 82



Part Two: Our Response

Like every council, KCC has limited resources to tackle the challenges we face. In order to 
maximise the impact of these resources and have the biggest impact on outcomes we 
have identified key areas of focus. These will be the strategic levers that will shape our 
activity. They are:

1. Enhancing Early Help, prevention and partnership working
2. Further developing in-house foster care services
3. Continuously improving quality of care 
4. Market engagement
5. Continuing to build organisational effectiveness 

These will focus our ambition, providing a framework for specific actions that will allow this 
strategy to act as vehicle to drive real change in our sufficiency offer.

These levers build upon and consolidate work to deliver the priorities of our 
Transformation Programme. We have built up a considerable amount of momentum for 
change that we intend to embed through the life of this strategy as we focus on improving 
outcomes for children and families in the county. 

Our approach in this section is to respond to the challenges we have identified by outlining 
what our approach will be and what actions we will take. 

Challenge 1: The need for effective support and practice to ensure that 
as many children as possible are able to remain living at home with 
their families

What will our approach be? 
Whilst there will always be cases where it is right to take a child into care for their 
protection, KCC is focused on improving parenting, reducing risk and dysfunction, and  
enabling children to grow up in their families wherever possible. We see intervening early 
and providing support to keep families together as the way to achieve the best outcomes 
for vulnerable children. 

We believe that through a transformed Early Help Offer we can improve the quality and 
accessibility of support in order that we can meet the needs of more children and families 
without the need of statutory services. 

Through our transformation programme we will enable ensure that early help services 
more effectively target need those families in the most need. In addition we will work 
proactively with partners to increase support for vulnerable families where children are at 
risk of entering care to improve parenting and family relationships leading to better 
outcomes for children and young people. We will place a particular focus on supporting 
adolescents at the edge of care, preventing late admissions to the care system. 

Page 83



We understand that partnership working is critical to success. As part of the delivery of this 
strategy we will focus on continuing to develop stronger relationships with district councils 
and partners within localities to establish protocols to prevent youth homelessness.

What actions will we take?
1.1 Redesign our approach to the delivery of Early Help services through the 
implementation of the ‘Early Help’ strand of our Transformation Programme

1.2 Develop a commissioning strategy for Early Help services that is complementary to the 
new structures being developed as part of our Transformation Programme

1.3 Work with District Councils and key stakeholders to develop processes and 
procedures to best meet the needs of young people presenting as homeless including 
redrafting the youth homelessness protocol and producing a homeless young people’s 
strategy

How we will measure our success:
Measure 1: We will expect to see a reduction in the number of children and young people 
who enter local authority care

Challenge 2: Provision of effective support and availability of suitable 
accommodation to meet the needs of care leavers

What will our approach be? 
We will work with local partners to review all accommodation and support options for care 
leavers during 2015. The aim will be to ensure that we are able to support effective 
transition to independent living as soon as young people are ready to do so. In order to 
achieve this we will develop a single programme of work that considers the needs and 
aspirations of the young people in our care, as well as the resources available to provide 
the support and accommodation that they need. 
A key focus will be upon working together with district housing departments, and local 
providers of accommodation and support, ensuring we are able to make the most of 
limited resources and to design creative and robust solutions to ensure young people are 
able to live independently and to thrive in the future. 

Through our Transformation Programme we will develop new tools and pathways to 
support young people to leave care with the skills they require to live independently. 

What actions will we take?
4.2 Develop a co-ordinated and strategic accommodation commissioning plan, by 
reviewing the accommodation and support services that KCC currently commissions from 
the independent sector (including semi-independent, supported lodging and supporting 
people services) 

4.4 Implement the Care Leaver’s Accommodation Project as part of our Transformation 
Programme to develop improved pathways to independence  and ensure care leavers are 
equipped with the skills for independent living 

Page 84



How we will measure our success:
Measure 2: We expect to see an increase in the percentage of Care Leavers who are 
living in suitable accommodation

Challenge 3: Access to high quality placements that support children in 
care to have stability and to achieve positive outcomes

What will our approach be? 
The first part of our approach will be to continue to strengthen and develop our in-house 
fostering service. We aim to place children in care with an in-house foster carer wherever 
possible. We currently have gaps in certain geographical areas as well as with suitable 
placements for children with disabilities and adolescents. Through our Transformation 
Programme we will focus on improving the effectiveness of our service so that we are 
better able to make effective placement matches, improve the support to existing carers 
and focus our recruitment activity on identifying carers to work with children with 
disabilities and adolescents. 

The second will be to work proactively with the market for external foster and residential 
care. We recognise that the council cannot meet its sufficiency duty without working 
proactively and in partnership with external providers. Currently work with the market 
covers all ages and a wide range of accommodation offers for our children in care 
population. We will aim to enhance this work to ensure Kent children in care receive high 
quality, good value provision, located within Kent boundaries. Placements for children with 
disabilities will be a particular focus of this work, as we seek to ensure that we have a 
reduced reliance on the use of geographically distant residential services in the future. 

During the lifetime of this strategy existing framework agreements will be reviewed and 
new ones developed. The aim of these will be to secure the best possible placements to 
meet needs within available resources. In identifying new frameworks we will work with 
young people and with providers to establish what is most likely to work. This will include 
considering the potential for new partnerships with other local authority areas.   

What actions will we take?
2.1 Review in-house foster service procedures and decision making processes in line with 
the implementation of the ‘External Spend’ strand of our Transformation Programme 

2.2 Implement the Fostering Improvement Plan 

2.3 Enhance support for foster carers to improve both placement stability and the range of 
children and young people whose care needs can be met

4.1 Implement a new process for identifying high quality cost effective IFA placements by 
reviewing the existing IFA framework and introducing new systems and process in our 
Access to Resources Team

4.3 Improve access to residential care, both through work as part of our Transformation 
Programme to improve efficiency of our processes and with neighbouring local authorities 
to consider potential frameworks procuring high quality cost effective residential 
placements

Page 85



4.5 Deliver a new Quality in Care framework, embedding a systemic approach to ensuring 
the quality of placements for children and young people

How we will measure our success:
Measure 3: We expect to see an increase in the number of children placed within 20 miles 
of their originating address for children with disabilities and those in the West of the 
county.

Measure 4: We expect to see the percentage of children remaining in the same placement 
for two years to remain stable

Measure 5: We expect to grow and diversify the skill, capability and capacity of our in-
house foster carers 

Challenge 4: Quality of practice and support to meet the needs children 
in care, improving their experience of care and achieving permanence

What will our approach be? 
We believe that the experience that children have in care, and as they transition from care, 
is of key importance to their future success. As such we are committed to continuing to 
improve our practice by supporting practitioner decision making and getting it right first 
time. Social work practice has been a key priority for the council for the past five years, 
and will continue to be so as we focus on improving both our theoretical framework and 
our process and procedures. 

The implementation of the Signs of Safety approach as part of our Transformation 
Programme will improve the outcome focus of our practice and help to develop stronger 
practice. Alongside this, our process re-design work – built upon work with our 
practitioners themselves, will help to ensure we have a tighter grip and a more proactive 
approach to supporting children to achieve outcomes.  

During the life of this strategy there will be a particular focus on the risk of Child Sexual 
Exploitation, and support to children who have been victims. This will build upon learning 
from the thematic inspection in 2014 and the delivery of our resulting action plan.

We will focus on improving the services that we provide to children in care in order to 
better meet their needs, and to help them to have successful and stable placements. This 
will include support and therapy to meet emotional and mental health needs (including for 
those that have been victims of abuse). These will be implemented through our new 
partnership Emotional Wellbeing Strategy, which will see a systemic approach to support 
implemented from August 2016. In addition we will continue to work with our health 
colleagues to ensure children in care and care leavers have access to the services they 
need. 

Having succeeded in improving our adoption service in recent years, we will go further 
during the life of this strategy. During 2015/16 we will build upon the success of our work 
with our Improvement Partner to implement new management arrangements for the 
service, seeking to improve the timeliness of adoption processes and identify suitable, 
permanent families, for those groups’ children who have been harder to place. 

Page 86



What actions will we take?
3.1 Implement the Specialist Children’s Services strand of our Transformation Programme.

3.2 Build on the thematic inspection of child sexual exploitation to develop services (which 
acknowledge the large UASC population) to minimise the risks to children and young 
people in Kent 

3.3 Review the current Children in Care Mental Health Services contract to ensure children 
in care, foster carers and care leavers are receiving appropriate, timely mental health 
support

3.4 Put a plan in place to improve timely and effective permanency arrangements for 
children in care

3.5 Implement new, long-term arrangements for the management of the adoption service, 
in order to build upon the continuous improvement journey we have seen in recent years

How we will measure our success:
Measure 6: We expect to see a reduction in the number of children in care that have three 
or more placements moves on a year

Measure 7: We expect to see a continued reduction in the length of time it takes between 
a child entering care of the local authority, and an adoption order being granted.

Measure 8: An increase in the number of children in permanent long-term fostering 
placements 

The impact of this strategy and how it will be monitored
This document has looked at Kent and the challenges we face in meeting our sufficiency 
duty. Strategic priorities have been identified and actions proposed that when implemented 
will mean we are better placed to meet our sufficiency duty. 

We believe it is critical that we maintain this strategy as a “live” document. Improving 
sufficiency is a priority for us, and therefore we intend to ensure the strategy doesn’t 
simply gather dust. Therefore, we intend to provide regular reports and monitoring of 
progress, both through the Social Care and Early Help leadership team, and to elected 
Members. We will undertake to ensure the following:

1. A quarterly report on the progress of our performance measures, and analysis of 
progress to the Specialist Children’s Services Divisional Management Team

2. A half-yearly report of the same to the Member led Corporate Parenting Panel
3. An annual consultation event with Children in Care to review progress and discuss 

key issues and aspirations for improvement

These progress reports will pull together information on all of the actions identified, many 
of which are to be delivered through different projects and programmes in the council. 

What will success look like?
Building on our first sufficiency strategy, it is important that we are able to measure the 
progress we are making, and to reflect on challenges where progress is not meeting our 

Page 87



expectations. In order to do this we will need to need to make effective use of the 
management information we collect. 

The following performance measures are those we have identified in this strategy. These 
will form our “Sufficiency Dashboard”, which will be monitored on a monthly basis and 
reported quarterly as above. 

Measure 1: We will expect to see a reduction in the number of children and you people 
who enter local authority care

Measure 2: We expect to see an increase in the number of Children in Care, Care Leavers 
and Vulnerable Young People having the necessary skills and opportunities to live 
independently 

Measure 3: We expect to see an increase in the number of children placed within 20 miles 
of their originating address for children with disabilities and those in the West of the 
county.

Measure 4: We expect to see the percentage of children remaining in the same placement 
for two years to remain stable

Measure 5: We expect to grow and diversify the skill, capability and capacity of our in-
house foster carers 

Measure 6: We expect to see a reduction in the number of children in care that have three 
or more placements moves on a year

Measure 7: We expect to see a continued reduction in the length of time it takes between 
a child entering care of the local authority, and an adoption order being granted.

Measure 8: An increase in the number of children in permanent long-term fostering 
placements 

By tracking these measures we will be able to identify the impact that we are having on the 
sufficiency of accommodation for our children in care. Where progress is not made we will 
use the “Improvement Cycle” process, to collect and analyse data prior to identifying a 
means of improvement and monitoring its impact. 

The Voice of the Child
The council is committed to ensuring that the voice of the child will have an increasing role 
in service design and delivery across all our services, both internal and externally 
contracted. Having consulted with children in care as part of strategy development, we 
have committed to providing an annual update on progress, and to involve young people in 
further planning and development of the identified actions. The council will be able to 
evidence the impact of the contributions of our children and young people.

What actions will we take?
5.1 Establish robust monitoring of the strategy utilising existing performance management 
frameworks, reporting on a quarterly basis to Specialist Children’s Services Divisional 
Management Team, and on a six monthly basis to the Corporate Parenting Panel

Page 88



5.2 Implement actions in our Participation Strategy, increasing opportunities for children 
and young people in care and care leavers to impact upon and influence service design 
and delivery

5.3 Use monthly reporting to track progress and identify issues, utilising the Improvement 
Cycle process to address performance issues and barriers to success

Page 89



Appendix A: Action Plan - What we are going to do
This high level action plan outlines the specific activity the council will take over the next three years to achieve sufficiency. It is supported by a 
number of service specific/operational actions plans

Strategic Lever 1:                                  Early Help, Prevention and Partnership working
What will we do?  Kent County Council will focus on providing targeted, effective early help services to safely prevent children from coming into 

care. The council will work proactively with partners and stakeholders to deliver the best outcomes for children. 
Actions Lead By When
1.1Redesign our approach to the delivery of early help services through the implementation of the ‘early 

help’ strand of our Transformation Programme
Florence Kroll July 2016

1.2Develop a commissioning strategy for early help services that is complementary to the new structures 
being developed as part of our Transformation Programme

Florence Kroll / 
Thom Wilson

April 2016

1.3Work with District Councils and key stakeholders to develop processes and procedures to best meet the 
needs of young people presenting as homeless including redrafting the youth homelessness protocol 
and producing a homeless young people’s strategy

Sarah Hammond 
/ Thom Wilson

January 2016

Strategic Lever 2:                                  In-House Foster Care Services
What will we do?  Kent County Council will grow and diversify the skill, capability and capacity of its in-house foster carers  
Actions Lead By When
1.4Review in-house procedures and decision making processes (including the function of the single 

placement team) in line with the implementation of the ‘external spend’ strand of the Transformation 
Programme 

Geoff Gurney September 
2015

1.5Implement the Fostering Improvement Plan Geoff Gurney April 2016
1.6Enhance support for foster carers to improve both placement stability and the range of children and 

young people whose care needs can be met
Geoff Gurney April 2016

P
age 90



Strategic Lever 3:                                Quality of Care - Continuous Improvement      
What will we do?  Kent County Council is committed to facilitating the highest quality of ‘authoritative’ social work practice, supporting 
practitioner decision making and getting it right first time.           
Actions Lead By When
1.7 Implement the Specialist Children’s Services strand of our Transformation Programme.

Philip Segurola
July 
2016

1.8 Build on the thematic inspection of child sexual exploitation to develop services (which acknowledge the 
large UASC population)  to minimise the risks to children and young people in Kent 

Patricia Denney April 
2016

1.9 Review the current Children in Care Mental Health Services contract to ensure children in care, foster 
carers and care leavers are receiving appropriate, timely mental health support

Thom Wilson August 2016

1.10  Put a plan in place to improve timely and effective permanency arrangements for children in care Geoff Gurney April 
2016

1.11  Implement new, long-term, arrangements for the management of the adoption service, in order to 
continue the positive improvements we have seen in recent years

Geoff Gurney January 
2016

Strategic Lever 4:                                  Market Engagement
What will we do?  Kent County Council will work in a proactive way with the independent sector to deliver the best possible accommodation 
solutions for Kent Children and young people in the most timely and effective way
Actions Lead By When
1.12  Implement a new process for identifying high quality cost effective IFA placements by reviewing the     

existing IFA framework and introducing new systems and process in our Access to Resources Team
Thom Wilson June 2017

1.13  Develop a co-ordinated and strategic  accommodation commissioning plan, by reviewing the 
accommodation and support services that KCC currently commissions from the independent sector 
(including semi-independent, supported lodging and supporting people services) 

Sarah 
Hammond / 
Thom Wilson

October 2015

1.14  Improve access to residential care, both through work as part of our Transformation Programme to 
improve efficiency of our processes and with neighbouring local authorities to consider potential 
frameworks procuring high quality cost effective residential placements

Thom Wilson April 2016

1.15  Implement Care Leaver’s Accommodation Project as part of our Transformation Programme to 
develop improved pathways to independence  and ensure care leavers are equipped with the skills for 
independent living 

Thom Wilson April 2017

1.16  Deliver a new Quality in Care framework, embedding a systemic approach to ensuring the quality of 
placements for children and young people

Geoff Gurney September 
2015

P
age 91



Strategic Lever 5:                                  Organisational Effectiveness 
What will we do?  Kent County Council’s transformation process is driving the vision of a fully integrated children’s service that delivers the best 
outcomes and safeguards for children, young people and families.

Actions Lead By When
1.17  Establish robust monitoring of the strategy utilising existing performance management frameworks, 

reporting on a quarterly basis to Specialist Children’s Services Divisional Management Team, and on a six 
monthly basis to the Corporate Parenting Panel 

Thom Wilson June 2015

1.18  Implement actions in our Participation strategy, increasing opportunities for children and young people 
in care and care leavers to impact upon and influence service design and delivery

Geoff Gurney April 2016

1.19  Use monthly reporting to track progress and identify issues, utilising the Improvement Cycle process 
to address performance issues and barriers to success

Thom Wilson OngoingP
age 92



Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services
                            

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director, Social Care Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 June 2015

Subject  The County Council's Corporate Parenting responsibilities 
towards Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children and Care 
Leavers, and issues around their accommodation in the 
Community. 

Classification:           Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions:   all

Summary. Kent is recognised as a “Gateway Authority” in which significant 
numbers of Asylum Seeking and Migrant Adults and children arrive every year. This 
is due to the close proximity of the County to Europe and the main access points of 
the Port of Dover and the Eurotunnel at Folkestone. 

For those who claim to be and are accepted as Children, the County Council has a 
Duty to assess and look after this cohort as Children in Care. These duties extend to 
ensuring that suitable accommodation is found for those who can safely live out in 
the Community within the envelope of funding provided by the Home Office. 

The report outlines the placements of this group of Children in Care and Care 
Leavers and the subsequent impact on community cohesion. 

Recommendations: The purpose of this report is to request that Members of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel bring to the attention of ALL Members the Council’s 
Corporate Parenting Responsibilities towards this cohort of children in care and care 
leavers:

That all Members use their influence with District/Borough/City Councils to ensure 
that fair access to social housing is available to this cohort, alongside other Kent 
care leavers.

Introduction 

Kent is a key gateway to the UK and a major arrival destination for foreign nationals 
seeking entrance to the UK. The responsibility for children and young people who 
are seeking asylum, and who are identified by the Home Office as unaccompanied, 
is passed to Kent County Council, and is discharged initially through Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children Duty Team and then through one of each of the five 
Children in Care Services., 

Page 95

Agenda Item B4



All the young people supported by the Council are accommodated under Section 20 
of the Children Act 1989. This essentially means that they are Looked After by the 
council voluntarily, and that the Council does not hold legal parental responsibility for 
them. However, the Council does have a corporate parenting duty ‘to look after them 
as though they were our own children’, ensuring their safety and therefore finding 
them good affordable accommodation across the County. Constantly changing 
conditions in originating countries, and the fluctuating numbers arriving from different 
communities, undoubtedly present major challenges to KCC. 
All children who are deemed to be under the age of 16 are placed in foster 
placement. All the males who are deemed to be over 16 years, but under 18 years, 
are placed in the Millbank reception centre at Ashford. Once the initial assessment is 
complete, cases are transferred to the Children in Care teams and children are 
allocated a social worker. Young people over the age of 16 years, move from the 
reception centre to live in accommodation in the community. 
Young people who have been Looked After by the department for 13 weeks or more 
are legally entitled to be supported as care leavers, their status is changed from LAC 
to Care Leaving and their case is managed under Sections 23 and 24 of the Children 
Act 1989 once they become 18.

Policy Framework 

All unaccompanied asylum seeking children arriving in Kent are the responsibility of 
the Council under law and must be looked after to the same standard as Citizen 
Children. In recognition of the need for the Council to be delivering an equitable 
service to all our children in care, the Service for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children and the Catch 22 16+ Service became integrated into the existing Children 
in Care Service across the County on the 1st December 2014. Each of the five area 
children in care services gained an additional team of workers, and the children and 
young people concerned were allocated to these new teams in accordance with their 
placement addresses.   

Catch 22 and the Asylum Service also delivered two separate Care Leavers 
Services to the citizen and asylum seeking populations, which were also brought 
together under one line management structure on the 1st December 2014. 

The funding of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Services in Kent.

The Gateway Grant previously provided by the Home Office in recognition of Kent’s 
special position in regards to the Channel Ports of entry was ended in April 2014 and 
replaced with an enhanced per capita head payment.  The funding level currently 
agreed for 214/15 was sufficient to meet the costs of looking after all the under 18 
UASC children. This is a result of a combination of ongoing efficiency savings within 
the old UASC service and the integration of the service. However, as  a result of the 
surplus achieved during 2014/15 reduced rates for under 18s have been proposed  
by the Home Office which will present the Council with further challenge in regards to 
sourcing appropriate accommodation for this cohort of Children in Care. 

Page 96



The Home Office per capita head payment for Care Leavers has not been enhanced 
and remains at the 2010 payment level of £150 per week. This has resulted in a 
continuing overspend on this cohort of young people, the deficit of which is met by 
the Local Authority. Significant progress has been made in addressing the issues 
contributing to the funding deficit, including undertaking Human Rights Assessments 
to determine whether support should be cased for those who are All Rights 
Exhausted.  However, costs relating to Care Leavers including those for 
accommodation will never be met by the £150 per week payment. 

Current Cohort

As at the end of March 2015, there were 1870 Children in Care in Kent, of which 368 
were unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children. The Council’s duties towards this 
cohort of Children in Care and Care Leavers are identical to those for citizen children 
under the Children Act 1989 and its associated Statutory Guidance. 

The Council is required to try and place children as near to their home community as 
possible. For this cohort, who have no home community in Kent, we have sought to 
find appropriate placements for them which is influenced by a number of factors. 
These are wide ranging but include the affordability and availability of placements, 
appropriate educational opportunities and social cohesion with existing ethnic and 
multi-cultural communities. 

The Placements of Young People
The Council is currently managing the cases of 735 UASC. 382 of these are Looked 
After Children and 353 are Care Leavers.
Young people are placed in communities across the whole of Kent, generally either 
in foster care or in rented accommodation. We also have a number of young people 
placed out of county

 Fostering Agencies and KCC foster placements are used for all children under 
the age of 16 at the time of arrival, these placements being sourced through 
either the in house fostering teams or the ART team. Fostered children may 
remain in foster placement through to the age of 18 years.

 Rented accommodation in the community is sourced through the 
commissioning team from preferred providers, Ready Homes, Social and 
Community Care and Accommodation plus

Distribution of UASC and Care Leavers within the 12 District/Borough Council 
areas. 

Page 97



Ash
fo

rd

Can
te

rb
ury

Dar
tfo

rd
Dove

r

Gra
ve

se
nd

M
aid

sto
ne

Se
ve

noak
s/S

wan
ley

Sh
epway

Sw
ale

Than
et

Tonbrid
ge

Tunbrid
ge

 W
ells

M
edway OLA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Under 18s

Over 18's

Distribution of under 18s in foster care and semi-independent placements by 
District/Borough areas. 

Ash
fo

rd

Can
te

rb
ury

Dar
tfo

rd
Dove

r

Gra
ve

se
nd

M
aid

sto
ne

Se
ve

noak
s/S

wan
ley

Sh
epway

Sw
ale

Than
et

Tonbrid
ge

Tunbrid
ge

 W
ells

M
edway OLA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Residential

Foster care

Semi independent

Factors determining placements
As can be readily seen by the above graphs, the distribution of placements is not 
even across the County. There are multiple factors which influence the choice of 
placement for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Young People which are as follows 

Cost of properties

Page 98



The Service is well aware that – in addition to our duty of care towards the young 
people entrusted to us – we also have a duty to provide this care in the most cost-
effective manner possible. The average market rental cost of a 3-bed property in 
districts used by KCC SUASC are laid out in Table 1 below:
 

Area Average market rental
Maidstone  £1105 per month
Ashford  £884 per month
Gravesend  £916 per month
Dartford  £1248 per month
Canterbury  £1152 per month
Folkestone  £817 per month
Chatham  £828 per month

 

Availability of properties
The Service is most likely to place young people in areas where accommodation is 
actually available at an affordable price. It is notable that Canterbury and Gravesham 
are not the cheapest in rental cost. However, both offer a large selection of 
properties available for rent. In addition, they offer good educational facilities.

The service pays a standard rate per bed space of £100 per week, which equates to 
£1200 per month for a three bed property. This includes the furnishing, 
maintenance/management service and the inspections.

Cultural and Ethnic representation
The service has tended to look for placements in areas where there are communities 
of similar culture to that of the young people, so they are able to identify with, and 
perhaps be guided by, people of their own background. This has also included ready 
access to places of worship which the young people can also access along with the 
support these provide. This has inevitably resulted in higher than average numbers 
of young people being placed in the north of the county and Medway, where non-
Christian religions are more frequently practised. As corporate parents we have a 
duty to ensure that the spiritual and religious needs of our children in care are 
appropriately met as well as their cultural needs. 

The high concentration of our ethnically diverse communities in certain parts of the 
County has contributed to the placements of this cohort of young people accordingly.

Educational opportunities

As corporate parents we also have a duty to ensure that the educational needs of 
our children in care are appropriately met. The availability of suitable school and 
college placements, who are able and willing to work with this cohort of children in 
care, has also influenced the choice of placements. 

Page 99



The Virtual School Kent (VSK) has been actively engaging with schools and other 
educational providers to develop ourses for individuals where English is their second 
language.  These efforts have been most successful in the Canterbury and 
Gravesend Districts

Going Forward

It has been acknowledged that the high numbers of young people placed in the 
Gravesend area has caused community tensions amongst the indigenous 
population. As a result no new placements have been commissioned from that area 
for over 12 months. The distribution of lower numbers of under 18s in those 
placements is an indication that this policy is now bringing about a reduction in 
overall numbers.

We are working in partnership with the two main housing providers to source 
properties in the less populated areas of the county. However this has to be 
balanced against the financial envelope within which we have to operate, in the 
context of a reducing but still significant over spend of £2m in the asylum budget. 

Additional support is being provided to the more vulnerable young people living out 
in the community in order to reduce some of the anti-social behaviour and other 
issues which have contributed to community tensions. Housing providers along with 
senior managers are now visiting properties on a very regular basis to ensure that 
young people are clear about expectations around acceptable behaviours. This 
activity is already beginning to show benefits with less reports of disturbance being 
received. 

Conclusions:

Finding sufficient and suitable placements for this cohort of children in care is an 
ongoing challenging which is only going to become more challenging as the numbers 
continue to rise. The service seeks to balance the responsibilities of the Council to 
appropriately meet the needs of these children and young people against the impact 
upon local communities and the cost constraints imposed by shortfalls in Home 
Office funding.

There are multiple factors which impact on placement choice and suitability, some of 
which are beyond the control of the social work service at this time. 

Recommendations:

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel to note that the Council’s duties to this 
cohort of children in Care are the same as those of citizen children. Furthermore that 
they use their influence to ensure that fellow members of Kent County Council and 
District and Borough Councils also understand their corporate parenting 
responsibilities and the factors impacting on the placement of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children across the county. 

Page 100



Report Author: 
Sarah Hammond, Assistant Director West Kent
Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411470
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director:
Philip Segurola, Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Background documents:

None.

Page 101

mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A4 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 April 2015
	A5 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 May, and brief verbal update
	A8 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	B1 What Foster Care is Like! - PRESENTATION
	B2 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	B2 - Appendix 1 - CIC Performance Report - Quarter 4 2014-15
	old
	Guidance Notes
	14-15 HC

	B2 - Appendix 2  - Sample CIC Performance Report for 2015_16
	Title Page
	Guidance Notes
	15-16 HC
	Children Front Page
	Review Timescales
	Exclusion and Absence
	Dental
	3+ Moves
	Ceased to be Looked After


	B3 Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018
	B3 - App 1 - Sufficiency Strategy

	B4 The County Council's Corporate Parenting responsibilities towards unaccompanied asylum seeking children and care leavers, and issues around their accommodation in the community



